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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER

s the Export-Import Bank of the

United States (Ex-Im Bank) enters

its 65th anniversary year, it faces

more challenges than perhaps at
any other time in its history. These chal-
lenges are related to the economic turmoil
experienced in developing mar-
kets such as Asia and Russia
during the past year. | am
proud that Ex-Im Bank
responded quickly and effec-
tively to the economic down-
turn that continues to threaten
the growth and prosperity of
much of the developing world.
It was a difficult year for Ex-Im
Bank, U.S. exporters, and their
customers, but by working together, we were
able to maintain vital export flows.

Filling the Finance Gap

The serious credit shortage resulting from
the exodus of private financing from the
developing world this past year made
Ex-Im Bank’s mission more important than
ever. We were called upon to fill the gap in
trade financing so that buyers in emerging
markets could make purchases of U.S.
commodities, spare parts, and capital
goods, and U.S. exporters could complete
pending transactions.

Ex-Im Bank’s ability to deliver critical
export financing in a difficult world econom-
ic environment was enhanced by the Bank’s
strong foundation built upon internal leader-
ship, bipartisan congressional support,
significant budget increases, and essential
management improvements. Ex-lIm Bank
began fiscal year 1998 with overwhelming,
bipartisan backing from Congress for its
mission to support U.S. exports and sustain
U.S. jobs, demonstrated by a reauthoriza-
tion vote in October 1997 that extended the
agency until the year 2001. Ex-Im Bank
finished the fiscal year with a significant
increase in its program budget that was
approved by Congress in October 1998,
again with bipartisan support. The Bank
also completed a management reorganiza-
tion to ensure that programs are adminis-
tered as efficiently as possible.

Expertise and Innovative Programs
During the past 65 years, Ex-Im Bank has
been recognized for its expertise in helping
U.S. businesses compete against tough for-
eign competition in the developing world.
Our ability to manage the political and com-
mercial risks associated with international
trade in emerging markets helped meet the
need for export financing in the markets
affected by world economic difficulties in
1998. For example, Ex-Im Bank initiated
export credit programs for Korea, Thailand,
and Indonesia. We estimate that the short-
and medium-term portion of the Korean
program alone will result in approximately
$3 billion in exports of U.S. goods and ser-
vices over a two-year period — U.S. exports
that would not have been sold without
Ex-lIm Bank financing.

At an address to the Council on Foreign
Relations in September 1998, President
Clinton praised Ex-Im Bank’s initiatives to
support trade between the United States
and the developing world. He encouraged
the Bank to explore ways to apply the inno-
vations developed for Asian markets to
other parts of the world. Our objective for
the coming year is to combine Ex-Im Bank’s
expertise in risk management in emerging
economies with innovative financing solu-
tions to support as many creditworthy
transactions for U.S. exporters as possible.

Prudent Management of Resources
Ex-Im Bank will continue the rigorous man-
agement of its existing portfolio of assets.
The prudent management of its exposure risk
is a hallmark of Ex-Im Bank’s 65 years of suc-
cess. ltis also a responsibility to American
taxpayers that the Bank takes seriously. We
have taken several steps this year to assure
that Ex-Im Bank’s assets, and American tax-
payer interests, are protected. We added a
number of U.S.-based specialists in portfolio
management and loan restructuring to our
staff in Washington. At the height of the cri-
sis, Ex-Im Bank dispatched an asset manage-
ment professional to Asia to continuously
monitor the unfolding economic situation in
the region, as well as the Bank’s Asian assets.
We have made certain the Bank is well-



reserved against possible losses resulting
from global economic problems. | am fully
confident that Ex-Im Bank will be able to
manage its existing portfolio at the same
time that it continues to finance creditworthy
exports of U.S. goods and services.

Enhanced Customer Service
While global economic developments
required much attention from staff and me
during the course of the year, our
attention was never diverted from
our important job at home.
Ex-Im Bank continued to sup-
port U.S. exporters with the
financing products they
needed.

To learn what more Ex-Im
Bank can do to support U.S.
exporters and to protect American
jobs, | met with exporters, Delegated
Authority lenders, City/State partners, and
state trade development agencies in 18 cities
across the country during the past year. In
response to our customers, Ex-Im Bank
increased the maximum lending level for
Delegated Authority lenders under its

Working Capital Guarantee Program and insti-

tuted an additional program to reach under-
served markets and customers, including
women- and minority-owned businesses. We
introduced new products, such as pre-com-
pletion coverage for project finance transac-
tions, while improving processes for others.
Indeed, providing simplified access to Ex-Im
Bank and its programs is one of our principal
objectives. A critical path into our agency is
through our award-winning Web site that

offers exporters immediate service (including

access to all of our application forms online)
to make export financing easier than ever.
During the course of the coming year, we will
actively seek other ways to streamline our
programs and processes to make them more
accessible for all exporters, particularly for
small and medium-sized companies.

As | consider the challenges ahead, | am
convinced that Ex-Im Bank’s response to the
global economic downturn in 1998 will be
recognized as an important chapter in Ex-Im
Bank’s successful history. Ex-Im Bank has
made a difference in moderating the effects
of the global crisis, both in the developing
world and here in the United States.

| am determined that over the course of
fiscal year 1999, Ex-Im Bank will continue

to demonstrate its value to its most
important constituents: the

American taxpayers. Our mis-

sion to support U.S. exports

and sustain American jobs
becomes even more critical in
difficult economic times. | have
every confidence that
Ex-lm Bank is up to the task and
that we will continue to make a dif-
ference — as we have done since 1934, as
we did in fiscal year 1998, as we are doing
in fiscal year 1999, and as we will continue
to do well into the 21st century.

James A. Harmon
President and Chairman



“Ex-Im Bank is vigorous-
ly pursuing its mission to
support U.S. exports and
sustain American jobs by
providing exporters the
loans, guarantees, and
insurance products they
need to compete in the
global marketplace. Our

programs and commit-
ment to effective cus-
tomer service will contin-
ue to make Ex-Im Bank a
responsive partner in
U.S. export trade.”

James A. Harmon
President and Chairman

ANCING WHE
EDED

n 1998, U.S. exporters experienced an
unsettling year of economic volatility in
the global marketplace. The exodus of
private sources of financing from the
developing world literally stopped
trade flows in countries such as
Korea, Thailand, and Indonesia.
Limited credit caused critical
export financing gaps in many
emerging markets where U.S.
sales are important for
domestic and international
commerce.

The Export-Import Bank of the
United States rose to meet the chal-
lenge of these difficult market conditions in
fiscal year (FY) 1998 with strong leadership,
effective financing programs, and the long-
term view that developing markets,

RE AND

although subject to cyclical conditions, still
generate export opportunities. Throughout
the year, Ex-Im Bank responded with inno-
vative risk management and export financ-
ing that reopened and preserved trade
flows between U.S. exporters and their
buyers throughout the world.

Ex-Im Bank’s success in FY 1998
can be measured in the nearly $13
billion in goods and services that
2,060 U.S. exporters sold world-

wide with the assistance of $10.5
billion in Ex-Im Bank financing.

Now more than ever, Ex-Im Bank is
making it possible for U.S. companies to
realize the opportunities in foreign sales
and establish the market share in emerging
markets that will ensure U.S. economic
growth into the 21st century.

SMALL BUSINESS AUTHORIZATIONS
($ millions)

Number Amount

1998 1997 1998 1997
Export Credit Insurance $1,534  $1,557 $1,659 $1,060
Working Capital Guarantee 265 301 369 367
Guarantees 63 73 192 306
Total Guarantees and Insurance 1,862 1,931 2,220 1,733
Loans 2 4 9 44
Grand Total $1,864  $1,935 $2,229 $1,777

Note: A total of 369 small businesses receiving Ex-Im Bank’s assistance during
the year had not previously participated in the Bank’s programs.




Total Financing
e Ex-Im Bank financing helped 2,060 U.S.
exporters make foreign sales in FY 1998.

e Ex-Im Bank authorized $10.5 billion in
loans, guarantees, and export credit
insurance, supporting nearly $13 billion of
U.S. exports to markets worldwide.

Small Business

e Ex-Im Bank authorized $2.2 billion in
financing to support exports by small
businesses — 21 percent of total
authorizations, well beyond the 10
percent set-aside of financing for small
business mandated by Congress.

Ex-Im Bank approved 1,864 small business

transactions — 85 percent of the total num-

ber of Ex-Im Bank transactions.

In FY 1998, 369 businesses used Ex-Im
Bank programs for the first time.

Ex-Im Bank authorized a total of $388
million in working capital guarantees,
$369 million of which benefited small
businesses. Of the 275 working capital
guarantee transactions authorized, 265
were for small businesses, representing
96 percent of the transaction volume.

Small businesses were issued 1,534
export credit insurance policies —
nearly 9o percent of the total number

of Ex-Im Bank’s policies. Small business
insurance authorizations totaled $1.7
billion, 39 percent of the total amount of
insurance authorizations.

FY 1998 AT A GLANCE

Export Credit Insurance

e Ex-Im Bank authorized $4.3 billion to
support 1,731 insurance policies under
the Export Credit Insurance Program.

e Filling the gap in export credit caused by
the Asian financial crisis, Ex-Im Bank
authorized approximately $1 billion to sup-
port short-term letters of credit for U.S.
goods and services sold to Korea.

Aircraft

e Ex-Im Bank authorized $2.6 billion to
finance the export of U.S. large commer-
cial aircraft to emerging markets through-
out the world.

Environment

e Ex-Im Bank authorized more than $284 mil-
lion in loans, guarantees, and export credit
insurance to support environmentaly bene-
ficial U.S. exports.

Energy

e Ex-Im Bank supported 19 transactions
involving U.S. exports to foreign power pro-
jects, with a total export value of
$1.3 billion.

Services

e Ex-Im Bank’s loan, guarantee, and insur-
ance authorizations assisted in the export
of a wide range of U.S. services (such as
engineering, design, consulting, and train-
ing), of which the total export value was
$332.5 million.

Agriculture

e Ex-Im Bank helped to finance the export of
$74 million of U.S. agricultural commodities,
livestock, foodstuffs, and related products,
and $189 million of agricultural equipment,
chemicals, supplies, and services.

“Ex-Im Bank’s ultimate
goal is to make its
export finance services
known and available in
every community
throughout the United
States. We are especial-
ly working to develop
small and rural export
business opportunities
through targeted financ-
ing programs, stream-
lined application proce-
dures, and strengthened
outreach efforts.”

Jackie M. Clegg
First Vice President
and Vice Chair




ACCESS TO FINANCING

New in Export Credit
Insurance in 1998:

e Medium-Term Credit
Standards —
Standardized Credit
Criteria, 20-Day
Turnaround from
Completed Application
to Approval

e Simplified Small
Business Policy —
Enhanced Assignment
Agreement

e Assignee Referral List
of Financial
Institutions for Small
Business
Policyholders

e Streamlined Renewal
Process for Exporter
Multibuyer Policy

Improved, Streamlined Processes
For Faster Financing

In response to customer needs and changing
market conditions in FY 1998, Ex-Im Bank
has made important changes to its financing
programs that have enhanced customer
service and made its financing products
more competitive.

Medium-Term Credit Standards:
20-Day Turnaround For Faster

Financing, Competitive Bidding

x-Im Bank’s new medium-term cred-
it standards are simplifying and
expediting the processing of
most medium-term transac-
tions, including insurance
policies, direct loans, and
guarantees, and feature a
20-day turnaround from
completed application to
approval. The new credit
standards define the criteria
- Ex-Im Bank uses in evaluating
- the creditworthiness of the pri-
mary source of repayment in
medium-term transactions, a critical
clarification that simplifies the applica-
tion process.

Financing Tools Especially
For Small Business:

Export Credit Insurance
Export credit insurance is a financing tool,
which is the number one reason businesses
purchase it. Most banks are more likely to
discount receivables or allow them in the col-
lateral base if they are insured, which makes
more working capital available to businesses.
Ex-Im Bank’s export credit insurance pro-
tects U.S. exporters and lenders against the
risks of a foreign buyer defaulting on pay-
ment for either commercial or political rea-
sons. Additional benefits include the ability
to offer foreign buyers competitive terms of
payment, to assign proceeds of policies to a
financial institution, and to access working
capital by enabling banks to discount foreign
accounts receivable or include them in the
collateral base.

Ex-Im Bank’s export credit insurance

policies offer coverage for:

e single or repeat export sales,

e financing or operating leases,

e a single buyer in one country or multiple
buyers in several countries,

e comprehensive (commercial and political)
risk or political-risk-only coverage.

Short-term policies (payment terms usual-
ly up to 180 days) support exports that
include consumer goods, equipment, spare
parts, and raw materials.

Medium-term policies (payment terms up
to five years) support exports of capital
goods and services on transactions valued
up to $10 million. Medium-term insurance
provides financing of up to 85 percent of the
contract value and covers 100 percent of the
principal and interest on the Ex-Im Bank-
financed portion.

Improvements made in FY 1998 have
upgraded and simplified the small business
policy by enhancing the assignment agree-
ment that protects lenders with appropriate
documentation against exporter perfor-
mance risks. To help small business policy-
holders obtain financing, an assignee refer-
ral list of financial institutions currently
offering financing to small business policy-
holders through the assignment of policy
proceeds is available through brokers, gov-
ernment agencies, and on Ex-Im Bank’s Web
site, www.exim.gov. Ex-Im Bank has stream-
lined the renewal process for the exporter
multibuyer policy and eliminated the $500
minimum annual premium for exporters.

Working Capital Guarantees
Working capital guarantees help small and
medium-sized U.S. companies obtain pre-
export financing from private sector lenders
by covering 9o percent of the principal and
interest on working capital loans.
Exporters can use an Ex-Im Bank working
capital-guaranteed loan:
e to purchase raw materials and finished
products for export;
e to pay for materials, labor, and overhead
to produce goods or provide services
for export;



e to cover standby letters of credit serving
as bid bonds, performance bonds, or
advance payment guarantees.

Ex-Im Bank has 36 City/State partners
(state and local trade organizations with
staff trained in Ex-Im Bank’s programs) that
are locally available for U.S. exporters.
These export experts can help arrange
working capital guarantees and other
financing.

Ex-Im Bank is also teamed with 74
qualified lenders nationwide through its
Delegated Authority Lender Program. This
private-public sector partnership allows
local lenders to make guaranteed working
capital loans without prior approval from
Ex-Im Bank — giving exporters the benefit of
faster turnaround, a streamlined credit
review process, and a local lending decision.

In FY 1998, Ex-Im Bank reached out to
qualified asset-based lenders through a new
“super” level of delegated authority to pro-
vide Ex-Im Bank guarantees on working capi-
tal loans up to $10 million per borrower and
up to an aggregate of $150 million per
lender. In addition, Ex-Im Bank is now offer-
ing expanded access to working capital by
permitting exporters, on a case-by-case
basis, to allow a portion of the initial
disbursement under a new Ex-Im Bank-
guaranteed working capital loan to repay a
portion of an exporter’s non-Ex-Im Bank-
related debt.

Other changes include reduced working
capital guarantee fees for borrowers and
transactions meeting established criteria; a
new two-tiered fee structure to reduce the
cost to small business exporters on lower
risk transactions; revolving loans on terms
up to 36 months (the previous limit was 12
months) if the lender offers and commits to
that term; more flexible borrowing base
requirements; and limited coverage for
warranties and retainages.

Ex-Im Bank is also implementing a pilot
program with the Private Export Funding
Corporation (PEFCO) to expand outreach to
small businesses in targeted markets:
minority-and women-owned businesses,
companies in economically depressed

urban and rural areas, and businesses that
produce environmentally beneficial goods
and services.

Buyer Financing:

Guarantees

Medium- and long-term guarantees help
U.S. exporters of capital goods and services
to obtain buyer financing from private sec-
tor lenders by covering up to 85 percent of
the U.S. contract value on loans to foreign
buyers. Ex-lm Bank will guarantee medium-
term loans of up to $10 million on repay-
ment terms of two to five years (exception-
ally up to seven-and-a-half years), and long-
term loans in excess of $10 million on
repayment terms typically from seven to 12
years. Ex-Im Bank’s guarantee protects
lenders against both political and commer-
cial risks of nonpayment and covers up to
100 percent of principal and interest on the
Ex-Im Bank-financed portion of the contract.

Direct Loans

Medium- and long-term direct loans enable
U.S. exporters to provide foreign buyers with
competitive, fixed-rate financing for the pur-
chase of U.S. capital goods and services.
Medium-term loans are under $10 million on
repayment terms of two to five years (excep-
tionally up to seven-and-a-half years). Long-
term loans are usually for $10 million or more
on repayment terms typically from seven to
12 years. All direct loans have a fixed inter-
est rate that is based on U.S. Treasury securi-
ties under international agreement.

Specialized Financing:

Project Financing

Project finance is available to U.S.
exporters or project sponsors that need
financing for exports to large foreign infra-
structure, oil and gas, and mining projects.
“Limited-recourse” project financing relies
upon the project’s future cash flows for
repayment (as defined by contractual
relationships within each project), rather
than on guarantees from a foreign govern-
ment, a financial institution, or an estab-
lished corporation.

New in Working Capital
Guarantees in 1998:

e “Super” Level of
Delegated Authority —
Up to $10 Million per
Borrower

® Reduced Fees for
Borrowers/Transactions
Meeting Criteria

e Two-tiered Fee
Structure To Reduce
Costs for Small
Business Exporters

e Terms Up to 36 Months
on Revolving Loans
from Lenders Offering
Those Terms

® More Flexible
Borrowing Base
Requirements

e Some Coverage for
Warranties and
Retainages

e Joint Pilot Project with
PEFCO To Expand
Outreach to Small
Businesses




New in Buyer Financing
in 1998:

® Medium-Term Credit
Standards —
Standardized Credit
Criteria, 20-Day
Turnaround from
Completed Application
to Approval

Ex-Im Bank offers any combi-
nation of direct loans, compre-
hensive guarantees, or
political-risk-only guar-
antees on projects —
for both pre-comple-

tion construction

loans and post-
completion financing.
Ex-Im Bank also offers the maximum repay-
ment term allowed under international
guidelines, as well as local cost support
and interest during construction.

Ex-Im Bank responded to exporter
requests and enhanced the Project Finance
Program in FY 1998 in several important
ways, including offering comprehensive
coverage during the construction period
and introducing a competitive letter of
interest (LI) that contains more specific
information than the standard LI. In appro-
priate bidding situations, the new product
should strengthen the position of U.S. com-
panies competing for international con-
tracts.

The Bank introduced small transaction
project financing to hold down costs on
smaller transactions and now will consider
project finance cases under $30 million
through in-house analysis.

Ex-Im Bank is also implementing the new
trial period Understanding for Project
Finance of the Organization for Economic
Cooperation and Development (OECD),
which allows greater flexibility with
respect to total repayment terms, first
repayment dates, and amortization profiles
on project loans.

New in Project Finance
in 1998:

e Pre-completion
Comprehensive Financing
for Construction Loans

e Small Transaction
Project Financing —
Streamlined Process
for Transactions under
$30 Million

e Competitive Letter
of Interest

e OECD Project Finance
Understanding, Trial
Period — for Greater
Flexibility on Project
Financing

Commercial Aircraft Financing

Aircraft financing assists U.S. manufacturers
or exporters in the export of new or used
U.S. manufactured commercial aircraft
(including helicopters) through Ex-Im
Bank’s loan, guarantee, and export credit
insurance programs. Ex-lm Bank’s aircraft
financing offers the longest repayment
terms permitted by international guidelines.
New, large aircraft (generally over 70 pas-
senger seats) typically qualify for repay-
ment terms of 10 to 12 years. Ex-Im Bank’s
support for large aircraft transactions
requires a security interest in the aircraft
(i.e., asset-based financing) and/or a guar-
antee from a sovereign government.

Environmental Exports Financing

With Ex-Im Bank’s environmental export
financing, U.S. exporters of environmental-
ly beneficial technology, equipment, and
services, as well as exporters participating
in environmentally beneficial projects, can
offer financing to their foreign customers
through export credit insurance, loan guar-
antees, direct loans, and working capital
loan guarantees.

Ex-Im Bank’s small business environmen-
tal insurance policy features enhancements
such as 95 percent coverage against commer-
cial losses, no deductible, and enhanced
assignment of insured receivables for banks.
Enhancements under the medium-term
guarantee include financing of capitalized
interest during construction and local cost
support of up to 15 percent of the U.S.
contract value.



Preserving Trade Flows Through
Critical Export Financing
Worldwide, Ex-Im Bank authorized $10.5 bil-
lion in financing to support nearly $13 billion
in U.S. exports in FY 1998. Even more signifi-
cant than how much Ex-Im Bank supported is
how the Bank managed to continue support-
ing U.S. exports under difficult and changing
market conditions. When sources of capital
literally left countries such as Korea,
Indonesia, and Thailand, Ex-Im Bank’s
response was to work individually and with
the export credit agencies of the Group of
Seven (G-7) industrialized countries and
other nations to remain open in Asia and find
ways to provide critical short- and medium-
term financing.

As demand for Ex-Im Bank financing
soared, Ex-Im Bank explored and developed
creative ways to finance the sales of U.S.
goods and services and keep trade flows
open in all markets directly and indirectly
affected by the Asian economic crisis. Ex-Im
Bank financed U.S. exports to emerging mar-
kets of the New Independent States, Russia,
Central Europe, Africa, and Latin America
(Ex-Im Bank’s most active region).

Ex-Im Bank demonstrated leadership,
commitment, and 65 years of export credit
expertise in managing the political and com-
mercial risks of a volatile international mar-
ketplace. In almost every challenging export
market, Ex-Im Bank was able to provide a
solution that preserved trade flows for the
benefit of U.S. companies and their workers.

ACCESS TO MARKETS

Asia

The total authorizations of Ex-Im Bank
financing in the Far East only tell part of the
story of a tumultuous year in Asia, the
Bank’s second largest regional market in
the world, with $2.1 billion authorized to
support U.S. exports in FY 1998.

Within weeks of the beginning of the fis-
cal year, the Asian currency crisis worsened
and trade flows slowed significantly in some
markets. Formerly robust economies such
as Korea (where U.S. exports totaled $35
billion the previous year) came to a stand-
still. Banks would not write letters of credit,
and new medium-term financing ceased to
be available. In Indonesia, market panic
stopped trade.

Exports, including basic raw materials,
were needed to help these economies begin
to recover. Ex-Im Bank, under the leadership
of Chairman James A. Harmon and with the
unanimous support of the board of direc-
tors, helped to organize a meeting of its G-7
counterparts in London and obtained a
commitment from all G-7 export credit agen-
cies, plus 11 others, to remain open for busi-
ness in the Asian markets.

Ex-Im Bank took decisive actions on its
own on behalf of U.S. exporters and provid-
ed short-term support to Korea that literally
turned on the trade flows again. Similar
programs were developed for Indonesia and
Thailand. Ex-Im Bank financing quickly
expanded as Asian governments took
important steps to improve their

Stepping Up in Asia

Virtually every month in
1998, Ex-Im Bank’s
board of directors took
action to assist U.S.
exporters in challenging
Asian markets. Chairman
Harmon met with gov-
ernment and business
leaders in the Republic
of Korea, Indonesia, the
Philippines, China,
Japan, and Thailand to
promote U.S. export
financing and negotiate
crucial short-term export
credit agreements. In FY
1998, Ex-Im Bank made
available up to $3 billion
in short- and medium-
term export credit for
sales to Korea, and
negotiated $1 billion
short-term programs

for both Indonesia

and Thailand.




Chairman Harmon and Mexican
President Ernesto Zedillo

Latin America

Latin America is Ex-Im
Bank’s biggest region-
al trading partner,
receiving $2.6 billion
in Ex-Im Bank financ-
ing in FY 1998 for the
purchase of U.S.
goods and services.
Chairman Harmon met
with government and
business leaders in
Brazil and Mexico to
encourage expanded
use of Ex-Im Bank pro-
grams, especially by
small and medium-
sized companies.

economies. By the end of FY
1998, Ex-Im Bank had made
available up to $5 billion in
short- and medium-term financ-
ing to support U.S. exports to
Korea, Indonesia, and Thailand
through the year 2000.

For the Republic of Korea,
Ex-Im Bank implemented a
short-term trade financing pro-
gram to support letters of credit
to U.S. banks on behalf of Korean buyers,
authorizing up to $750 million in January
1998 and another $250 million in July. Ex-Im
Bank also made available in July up to $2 bil-
lion for medium-term financing, supported
by a sovereign guarantee from the Korean
government, for sales of U.S. capital goods
and services. When the fiscal year ended,
Ex-Im Bank’s short-term Korean program had
supported nearly $1 billion in U.S. exports
that would not have been sold otherwise.

For U.S. exports sold to Indonesia and
Thailand in FY 1998, Ex-Im Bank successfully
negotiated $1 billion short-term trade financ-
ing programs with each country to support
letters of credit, supported by sovereign guar-
antees from their respective governments.

More than half of Ex-Im Bank’s financing
in Asia, $1.3 billion, supported exports to
China, Ex-Im Bank’s largest market in Asia
and second largest country market world-
wide. The majority of this financing sup-
ported sales of new, large commercial air-
craft to 11 separate airlines.

In the Philippines, Ex-Im Bank authorized
$7.3 million in medium-term guarantees sup-
porting U.S. exports of radio and television
communications equipment and services for
expansion of a cable network and develop-
ment of Internet services.

Ex-Im Bank also reopened in Vietnam to
consider financing for short- and medium-
term support for U.S. exports sold to the
public sector, with Ex-Im Bank financing to
be supported by a sovereign guarantee
from the Vietnamese government.

Latin America
Latin America was Ex-Im Bank’s largest
regional trading partner in FY 1998: Ex-Im

Bank authorized $2.6 billion in financing to
support U.S. exports to the region. Yet Latin
America was not immune to the downturn of
global markets. Toward the end of FY 1998,
both the Administration and Congress
expressed concerns that economic problems
could adversely affect U.S. trade with this
important region.

Building upon historic successes and
relationships dating back to the origin of
the agency, Chairman Harmon and Ex-Im
Bank staff made timely trips to Brazil and
Mexico in late 1998, reaffirming Ex-Im Bank’s
strong presence and trade partnerships in
these countries.

Overall, Latin America was a successful
market for U.S. exporters in FY 1998, with
exports from principal U.S. industries such
as oil and gas, power, and telecommunica-
tions companies utilizing 8o percent of Ex-Im
Bank’s medium- and long-term financing for
the region.

The four largest markets in Latin America
for Ex-Im Bank financing continued to be
Mexico, Brazil, Venezuela, and Argentina.
Mexico was Ex-Im Bank’s largest country
market in the world, with medium- and long-
term authorizations totaling $1.6 billion.

For the Cantarell Qil Field and Burgos
Basin projects in Mexico, Ex-Im Bank autho-
rized two guarantees totaling $536 million to
finance U.S. exports of oil and gas equip-
ment and services from companies in Texas,
Louisiana, Florida, North Carolina,
Pennsylvania, and California. Almost $14 mil-
lion of the financing helped six small busi-
nesses to export to these projects.

Supporting U.S. power industry exports to
Mexico, Ex-Im Bank approved a $227 million
guarantee for the export of turbine genera-
tors from Westinghouse Electric Company
and General Electric Corporation to the
Comision Federal de Electricidad (CFE)
for the upgrade of five power plants across
the country.

Ex-Im Bank’s largest telecommunications
transaction was also in Mexico: A $72.4 mil-
lion guarantee was approved to help Lucent
Technologies Inc. sell nearly $8o million of
cellular communications equipment and ser-
vices to Grupo lusacell S.A. de C.V. for a



cellular network system in Mexico City,
Guadalajara, and Leén.

Ex-Im Bank’s authorizations for Brazil were
mainly for transactions under $1 million each
that involved small and medium-sized busi-
nesses, an increasing trend that is expected
to be further encouraged by Ex-Im Bank’s
implementation of medium-term credit
standards and a 20-day turnaround from
completed application to approval.

For U.S. telecommunications exports to
Brazil, Ex-Im Bank approved a $69 million
direct loan to counter foreign competition in
the sale of a telecommunications fiber-optic
cable system by Tyco Submarine Systems
Ltd. of Morristown, N.J., to the Americas Il
undersea cable project.

In FY 1998, Ex-Im Bank reopened in
Colombia in all programs in both the public
and the private sectors, and authorized an
$8.4 million guarantee to support the sale of
U.S. gas turbine compressor equipment for a
gas pipeline project.

New Independent States, Russia,
and Central Europe

In FY 1998, Ex-Im Bank authorized $1.2 bil-
lion in financing to support U.S. exports to
the New Independent States, Russia, and
Central Europe, including $301.6 million to
support U.S. commercial aircraft sales to
Russia’s flag carrier, Aeroflot Russian
International Airlines.

Uzbekistan is Ex-Im Bank’s largest cus-
tomer to date in Central Asia, with FY 1998
authorizations of $379 million. In April,
Ex-Im Bank approved $214.6 million to
support U.S. exports to Uzbekneftegas,
Uzebekistan’s national gas company, for a
polyethylene plant. Ex-Im Bank also autho-
rized several smaller guarantees to finance
sales to Uzbekistan of U.S. agricultural
goods and services.

In FY 1998, Ex-Im Bank signed a coopera-
tion agreement with the National Bank of
Uzbekistan (NBU) to promote financing of
U.S. exports on a non-sovereign risk basis to
the private sector. Under the agreement,
Ex-Im Bank financing will be made available
directly to NBU or through Uzbek commercial

banks (supported by a guarantee from

NBU) to enable private sector customers to
obtain financing for purchases of U.S. goods
and services.

Ex-lIm Bank and Turkmenistan signed a
strategic cooperation agreement in FY 1998
to facilitate the expansion of Ex-Im Bank
financing in Turkmenistan. The agreement
will strengthen efforts begun under an exist-
ing project incentive agreement to enable
Ex-Im Bank to consider financing of U.S.
exports to creditworthy private sector
projects in Turkmenistan on a non-
sovereign risk basis.

All of Ex-Im Bank’s authoriza-
tions for Turkmenistan in FY
1998 ($103 million) were in
the public sector, including
a $96.4 million guarantee
to help finance U.S.
equipment and services
for the upgrade of a
natural gas pipeline.

In FY 1998, Ex-Im
Bank authorized $668.6
million to support exports
to Russia, including a
$64.6 million loan guaran-
tee to finance the sale of diag-
nostic imaging equipment to a
medical academy in Moscow fr
General Electric Medical Systems of
New Berlin, Wis.

Ex-Im Bank also approved a $122.8 million
guarantee to support the export to Russia of
a “Direct to Home” satellite communications
system by Hughes Space and Communi-
cations Inc. of El Segundo, Calif. Ex-Im
Bank’s financing made the critical difference
in the sale for Hughes, enabling the company
to win the contract over foreign competitors
backed by their governments’ export credit
agencies. The new communications system
will enable direct video transmission to
home subscribers throughout most of
Russia, as well as in Belarus and the Ukraine.

Supporting U.S. power industry exports to
Croatia, Ex-Im Bank approved a $69 million
long-term guarantee to finance engineering
services by Parsons Power Group Inc. of




“Small businesses
employ over half of the
U.S. private sector work-
force, generate more
than half of our gross
domestic product, and
create most of the new
jobs in our economy.
Every small business
export sale that Ex-Im
Bank finances supports
U.S. jobs and serves local
communities. We are
committed to helping
small businesses access
promising but challeng-
ing markets such as sub-
Saharan Africa, where
the potential demand for
U.S. products and ser-
vices is enormous.”

Maria Luisa Haley
Ex-Im Bank Board
Member

Reading, Pa., for the
Te-To-Zagreb Power
Project. In addition,
three U.S. suppliers
from New York,
Pennsylvania, and
South Carolina will
export equipment
to the project.

Africa

Ex-Im Bank has targeted the African market
to increase U.S. exports to this emerging
region, which received $49 million in Ex-Im
Bank financing in FY 1998. Ex-Im Bank’s
largest market in Africa was Kenya: Ex-Im
Bank authorized $26 million to support the
export of a Boeing 737-300 aircraft to Kenya
Airways Ltd.

Ex-Im Bank expanded its cover policy in
five West African countries — Cameroon,
Cape Verde Islands, Gabon, The Gambia,
and Senegal. Ex-Im Bank is now open to
consider project finance business in 45 sub-
Saharan African countries and is open for
traditional export financing in 21 sub-
Saharan African countries.

Innovative project financing is under way
in Africa. Ex-Im Bank signed a loan guaran-
tee (authorized in FY 1997) to help support
more than $200 million in exports of U.S. oil
well services to an offshore oil field project in

Angola. Instead of a sovereign guarantee,
Ex-Im Bank will use a secured escrow
account funded by the proceeds from the oil
sales to assure repayment.

The sub-Saharan Africa Advisory
Committee, chaired by former U.S.
Representative Floyd Flake, is helping Ex-Im
Bank to develop policies to strengthen sup-
port for U.S. exports to Africa. Ex-Im Bank
also appointed a counselor-coordinator for
Africa to direct marketing of programs in the
region and lead a task force to design and
implement proactive measures to increase
export financing to Africa.

In the last three years, all five Ex-Im Bank
directors made business trips to Africa,
including the historic first-time visit of an
Ex-Im Bank chairman to southern Africa.



n its 65 years as the official export
credit agency of the United States,
Ex-Im Bank has developed a unique
expertise in the world of export
financing that adds value for American tax-
payers in many ways — and the benefits
are not limited to the U.S. companies win-
ning the export contracts. In fulfilling its
mission to help U.S. exporters, Ex-Im Bank
also serves the U.S. government with tech-
nical and policy expertise that assists in the
development of emerging markets and the
promotion of world trade.
Ex-Im Bank has pioneered in several areas
of export financing, such as project finance,

and its very presence has enabled many mar-

kets to continue to have access to external
export financing and develop. Ex-Im Bank’s
staff offers highly specialized trade finance
expertise in markets where financing would
not be available otherwise or where interna-
tional competition is particularly strong:
commercial aircraft, project finance, and
environmental exports.

Commercial Aircraft Financing
Ex-Im Bank helped U.S. commercial aircraft
manufacturers win a number of important
sales in FY 1998. Ex-Im Bank authorized
more than $2.6 billion in financing to sup-
port U.S. commercial aircraft in FY 1998 (up
from $2.2 billion the previous fiscal year) in
the competitive markets in Africa, Latin
America, Russia, Central Europe, Asia, and
Australia. By meeting the cyclical growth in
demand for financing of U.S. aircraft
exports, Ex-Im Bank helped sustain and
create thousands of jobs for U.S. workers
throughout the country in aircraft manufac-
turing and related industries.

Of the total amount of aircraft financing,
Ex-Im Bank authorized $1.2 billion in asset-
based financings, and nearly $1.4 billion in
financings backed by sovereign guarantees
from foreign buyers’ governments, to sup-
port the export of aircraft and helicopters
manufactured by Boeing, McDonnell

ACCESS TO EXPERTISE

Douglas (now owned by Boeing), Cessna,
Bell, and other U.S. manufacturers.

More than half of Ex-Im Bank’s FY 1998
aircraft financings supported the export
of 32 large commercial aircraft to 11 airlines
in China. Ex-Im Bank also approved $301.6
million to support the sale of 10 Boeing
737-400 aircraft to Aeroflot Russian
International Airlines in Russia, the first
financing of commercial aircraft to Russia
by an export credit agency.

Ex-Im Bank also supported U.S. aircraft
exports to Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Chile,
the Czech Republic, El Salvador, the Fiji
Islands, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Mexico,
Morocco, and Turkey. Ex-Im Bank’s aircraft
support was not limited to large aircraft but
included support for helicopters and smaller
aircraft, such as the export of eight Caravan
utility aircraft built by Cessna Aircraft
Company of Wichita, Kan., to TACA, the
national flag carrier of El Salvador.

Ex-Im Bank’s export credit insurance — a
new growth area in aircraft support — sup-
ported the export of new and used U.S. air-
craft to countries such as Brazil and Mexico.

Project Financing
In FY 1998, Ex-Im Bank updated its limited-
recourse project finance program
to meet the changing needs of
U.S. exporters and concentrat-
ed on projects already under
way in markets with economic
problems such as Southeast
Asia. In response to exporter
requests, Ex-Im Bank expand-
ed the availability of project
financing to cover the con-
struction phase of projects on
a comprehensive basis, as
well as the post-construction
period.

Although no project finance
transactions were approved in
FY 1998, Ex-Im Bank’s Project Finance
Division developed and negotiated potential

“Ex-Im Bank’s technical
expertise and knowl-
edge of the market for
export credits play a
vital role in the U.S. gov-
ernment’s negotiations
at the OECD to reduce

subsidies and safeguard
a competitive trade
arena for U.S. exports.”

Rita Rodriguez
Ex-Im Bank Board
Member




“Ex-Im Bank’s financial
support of environmental-
ly beneficial exports

opens new export sales
opportunities for U.S.
companies whose prod-
ucts and expertise pro-
vide critical assistance to
foreign buyers facing
serious environmental
challenges in their

home countries.”

Julie Belaga

Ex-Im Bank Board
Member and Chief
Operating Officer

financing for future exports and closed on
several transactions that had been autho-
rized the previous year. Several project

finance transactions authorized during the

previous fiscal year reached successful com-

pletion, and the financings were converted
into long-term operational coverage.
Ex-Im Bank is implementing the new trial
period OECD Understanding for Project
Finance, which allows greater flexibility
on total repayment terms, first repay-
ment dates, and amortization pro-
files on project loans.

Ex-Im Bank introduced small
transaction project financing, under
which the Bank will consider project

finance cases of under $30 million

through in-house analysis, which will
hold costs down for smaller companies.

Also in response to customers’ needs,
Ex-Im Bank introduced a competitive letter of
interest (LI) that contains more specific infor-
mation than the standard LI. In appropriate
bidding situations, the new product should
strengthen the position of U.S. companies
competing for international contracts.

Serving as a Financial Expert on Emerging Markets

During the past 65 years, Ex-Im Bank has
established itself as a leading authority on
developing world economies and a recog-
nized source of financial expertise that is
utilized by U.S. exporters, federal agencies,
and financial institutions around the world.
Ex-Im Bank’s unique technical, economic,
environmental, country, and specialized
knowledge provides critical information and
analysis that is relied upon by public and
private organizations throughout the world
in assessing the risks of emerging markets
and in formulating responses to issues
related to these markets.

Environmental Exports Financing
In FY 1998, Ex-Im Bank authorized more than
$284 million in loans, guarantees, and
export credit insurance to finance exports of
environmentally beneficial U.S. goods, ser-
vices, and technologies, assisting one of the
most competitive American industries with
the most attractive financing possible.
Support included $163 million in loans and
guarantees and $121 million in environmen-
tal export credit insurance. Exports support-
ed included equipment and technology for
power plant pollution abatement, water and
sewage treatment, and waste incineration.
During the year, Ex-Im Bank embarked on
a robust strategy to reach out to thousands
of small business environmental exporters
around the country. One such company,
Environmental Dynamics Inc. of Columbia,
Mo., used Ex-Im Bank’s small business envi-
ronmental export credit insurance to offer
competitive terms on sales of its waste
water treatment equipment to customers
in Latin America, Europe, and Asia.

Ex-Im Bank’s economists are an example,
providing the analytical core to an inter-
agency country risk assessment and rating
process. Their analyses and insights directly
contribute to the development of uniform
country risk ratings used in financing trans-
actions by several federal agencies.

Ex-Im Bank’s board of directors and policy
and planning staff are leaders in the interna-
tional effort to reduce subsidies through
their work within the Organization for Econ-
omic Cooperation and Development (OECD).

Ex-Im Bank’s engineers provide valuable
engineering and environmental expertise to

domestic and international government
agencies. The specialized knowledge base
in Ex-Im Bank divisions, such as aircraft
finance and project finance, is also an impor-
tant source of information and analysis.

As the official export credit agency of the
United States, Ex-Im Bank operates both
as a financial institution and as a valuable
resource that provides critical analytical
support needed to support America’s efforts
to level the playing field for U.S. exporters
in emerging markets, to assist developing
economies, and to sustain U.S. jobs
through exports.



Up-To-Date Information on
Ex-Im Bank Programs on
Award-Winning Internet

Web Site: www.exim.gov

Ex-Im Bank has made access to a wealth of
export finance knowledge only a few key-
strokes away. The Bank’s
award-winning Internet Web

site, www.exim.gov, gives
customers — U.S. exporters,
lenders, and purchasers of

U.S. goods and services —

the export financing informa-

tion that they need, when

they need it: 24 hours a day, seven
days a week.

Through the Web site, Ex-Im Bank provides

these important tools and information:

Exposure Fee Calculator: To Determine the
Ex-Im Bank Exposure Fee on Medium- and
Long-Term Transactions

Online Letter of Interest (LI): Electronic
Application Form for Fastest Filing

Country Information: Ex-Im Bank
Cover Policy for Every Country

Board of Directors Meetings Reports:
Up-to-date Information on Recent Board
Authorizations

Credit Committee Meetings Reports:
Up-to-date Information on Credit Policies

News Releases: Latest News of Important
Ex-Im Bank Transactions and Events

Annual Report: Complete Ex-Im Bank
Financial Data of Most Recent Fiscal Year

Quarterly Newsletter: Practical Tips on
Program Use, Upcoming Seminars,
and Events

ACCESS TO TECHNOLOGY

Ex-Im Bank’s Web site also offers detailed
information on every program, and quick
reference to telephones numbers and
addresses of Ex-Im Bank regional offices,
City/State partners, and Delegated
Authority lenders, and much more.

Through the Internet, Ex-Im Bank is
reaching out around the clock to support
U.S. companies with the best information
available, while maximizing limited
personnel resources. Nearly
600,000 Internet users
worldwide visited
www.exim.gov by
the end of FY 1998.




KEY

INDUSTRIES

ection 8(d)(1) of the Export-Import
Bank Act of 1945, as amended,
directs Ex-Im Bank to include in its
annual report a detailed description
of its actions:
¢ to maintain the competitive position of key
linkage industries in the United States;
e to support industries that are engaged in
the export of high value-added products;
e to support industries that are engaged
in the development of new capital
goods technology;
e to preserve and create highly skilled jobs
in the U.S. economy; and
e to enhance the opportunity for growth
and expansion of small businesses and
entrepreneurial enterprises.

Ex-Im Bank’s FY 1998 activity (financial sup-
port for shipment and disbursements) includ-
ed support for approximately $4.3 billion in
exports from 34 industry groups that fall into
the first four of these “key” industries.
Although many products could fit into more
than one category, products are only allocat-
ed to one category.

Key linkage industries are those industries
critically linked to the cost competitiveness
of many businesses and are often referred to
as “forward linkage” industries. These indus-
tries produce inputs necessary for the pro-
duction of durable goods. This category also
includes certain industries that are key to
national defense. In FY 1998 Ex-Im Bank
assisted $186.2 million in exports from four
key linkage industries: mining, petroleum,
steel products, and metal working equip-
ment industries.

High-value added products are those indus-
tries in which the value of output generated
per unit of resource input is above average.
This number is derived by dividing the value
added by an industry by the total value
shipped by that industry. For this report,
“high value-added” is defined as a value-
added to value-shipped ratio greater than
50 percent. Ex-Im Bank activity assisted
$392.5 million in exports from nine industry
groups that produce high value-added
products. The new capital goods technology
category consists of certain typically high
technology export industries that produce
innovative-type capital goods. These indus-
tries typically have research and develop-
ment expenditures of 50 percent or higher
than general industry standards. Industries
meeting this description include computers
and accessories, electronic equipment,
specialized machinery, telecommunications
equipment, aircraft and parts, and automo-
tive equipment and parts. Ex-Im Bank activity
assisted $2.7 billion in exports from seven of
these industries.

The highly skilled jobs category includes
those industries that employ a high concen-
tration of scientists, engineers and techni-
cians. Such industries take advantage of the
U.S. comparative advantage in relatively
expensive skilled labor. Sectors that demon-
strate a high concentration of skilled jobs but
are not key linkage industries and do not
produce new capital goods technology or
high value-added exports include services,
chemicals, construction, metal products,
engines, and railways. Ex-Im Bank activity
assisted $1.1 billion in exports from 14 indus-
tries in the highly skilled jobs category.

Advisory Committee Statement for the 1998 Annual Report:
The 1998 Export-Import Bank Advisory Committee approves the Lundine Report of Key

Industries without change.



FY 1998 AUTHORIZATIONS SUMMARY

($ Millions)
Program Number of Authorizations Amount Authorized Export Value Subsidy
1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997
Loans
Long-Term Loans 1 13 $68.8  $1,464.5 $79.5 $1,706.4 $6.2 $25.0
Medium-Term Loans 3 17.2 8.9 20.0 10.4 2.0 1.7
Tied Aid 1 16.6 75.5 16.6 81.5 8.3 17.0
Total Loans 5 17 102.6 1,548.9 116.1 1,798.3 16.5 43.7
Guarantees
Long-Term Guarantees 73 88 5,123.7 6,745.1 5,748.7 7,408.2 463.6 566.1
Medium-Term Guarantees 147 180 639.3 572.1 746.9 673.2 95.6 83.3
Working Capital Guarantees 275 332 387.7 443.3 1,903.5 2,273.9 11.2 12.2
Total Guarantees 495 600 6,150.7 7,761.1 8,399.1 10,355.3 570.4 661.6
Export Credit Insurance
Short-Term 1,431 1,384 3,582.8 2,317.3 3,582.8 2,317.3 49.2 389
Medium-Term 261 347 713.5 531.5 769.7 625.1 80.6 66.6
Total Insurance 1,692 1,731 4,296.3 2,848.8 4,352.5 2,942.4 129.8 105.5
Modifications 11.8 30.0
Grand Total 2,192 2,348 $10,549.6  $12,158.8 $12,867.7 $15,096.0 $7285  $840.8




FY 1998 AUTHORIZATIONS BY MARKET

Single-Buyer Total Exposure

Loans Guarantees Insurance Authorizations 9/30/98

AFRICA MULTINATIONAL 5,343,377
ALGERIA 64,494,249 64,494,249 1,587,430,289
AMERICAS MULTINATIONAL FINANCIAL INST 39,832,406
ANDORRA 7,425
ANGOLA 93,365,855
ANTIGUA 369,578
ARGENTINA 82,959,093 39,423,221 122,382,314 1,761,292,769
ARUBA 8,442,400 228,335 8,670,735 14,881,678
AUSTRALIA 100,460,046 900,000 101,360,046 647,215,118
AUSTRIA 57,918,721
BAHAMAS 22,340,718 4,191,414 26,532,132 36,082,901
BAHRAIN 19,329,765 19,329,765 19,495,826
BANGLADESH 10,462,723
BARBADOS 315,429
BELGIUM 2,608,967
BELIZE 2,423,125 2,423,725 16,803,644
BERMUDA 90,000 90,000 361,177
BOLIVIA 371,231 5,010,090 5,381,321 35,692,505
BOSNIA 36,766,120
BRAZIL 68,736,731 171,443,521 112,911,742 353,091,994 3,677,610,615
BRUNEI 11,818
CAMEROON 54,166,010
CANADA 20,573,121
CANARY ISLANDS 6,671
CAYMAN ISLANDS 740,211
CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC 7,805,095
CHILE 189,123,068 4,249,348 193,372,416 270,283,967
CHINA 26,386,019
CHINA (MAINLAND) 1,350,729,102 3,151,425 1,353,880,527 5,941,228,039
CHINA (TAIWAN) 17,633,369 17,633,369 22,433,619
COLOMBIA 8,479,367 8,479,367 507,237,312
CONGO 22,864,759
COSTA RICA 2,670,072 2,670,072 25,533,312
COTE D'IVOIRE 169,983,487
CROATIA 68,987,654 358,272 69,345,926 147,680,528
CUBA 36,266,581
CYPRUS 34,496
CZECH REPUBLIC 81,980,165 81,980,165 507,303,963
DEBT IN FORMER YUGOSLAVIA 107,878,989
DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO 921,830,192
DENMARK 1,859,885
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 19,078,154 17,399,170 36,477,324 199,067,086
ECUADOR 11,972,427 8,367,715 20,340,142 163,162,805
EGYPT 4,505,235 4,505,235 43,128,122
EL SALVADOR 19,441,148 7,682,560 27,123,708 123,515,263
ESTONIA 23,081




FY 1998 AUTHORIZATIONS BY MARKET

Single-Buyer Total Exposure

Loans Guarantees Insurance Authorizations 9/30/98

FIJI ISLANDS 109,099,499 109,099,499 109,103,524
FINLAND 270,000 270,000 1,247,889
FRANCE 2,142,000 2,142,000 11,441,852
FRENCH POLYNESIA 8,654
GABON 70,593,800
GEORGIA 2,394,977 2,394,977 16,764,839
GERMANY, FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF 450,000 450,000 12,325,702
GHANA 888,545 13,249,229 14,137,774 342,135,676
GREECE 89,888,542
GRENADA 1,562,360 1,562,360 5,412,542
GUATEMALA 4,908,980 9,616,903 14,525,883 97,000,737
GUINEA 7,593,494
GUYANA 4,275,074
HAITI 3,982,016
HONDURAS 274,390 6,448,606 6,722,996 14,054,620
HONG KONG 3,999,900 3,999,900 438,596,537
HUNGARY 75,472,072
ICELAND 488,426
INDIA 187,902,653 25,042 187,927,695 1,455,065,432
INDONESIA 1,738,250 2,591,366 4,329,616 3,495,849,390
IRELAND 3,083,348
ISRAEL 569,943 569,943 597,922,568
ITALY 337,321,258
JAMAICA 5,420,000 5,420,000 86,403,875
JAPAN 1,680,000 1,680,000 13,704,867
JORDAN 7,670,326
KAZAKHSTAN 114,970,243
KENYA 26,123,273 4,300,395 30,423,668 120,246,498
KOREA, REPUBLIC OF 102,715 102,715 1,993,275,782
KUWAIT 859,974 859,974 17,212,312
LATVIA 2,609,828 2,609,828 9,277,631
LEBANON 7,303,760 7,303,760 8,296,559
LIBERIA 5,980,110
LITHUANIA 29,795,548
LUXEMBOURG 130,953,349
MACAU 1,682,721
MACEDONIA 95,084,461
MADAGASCAR 24,621,263
MALAYSIA, FEDERATION OF 434,563 434,563 216,750,367
MALTA 16,461,538
MAURITANIA 6,596,857
MAURITIUS 669,229
MEXICO 1,148,579,367 522,553,646 1,671,133,013 4,857,209,221
MICRONESIA, FEDERATED STATES OF 369,169
MONTSERRAT 3,725
MOROCCO 66,888,200 66,888,200 595,975,660
MOZAMBIQUE 49,277,853




FY 1998 AUTHORIZATIONS BY MARKET

Single-Buyer Total Exposure

Loans Guarantees Insurance Authorizations 9/30/98

NAURU 45,981,069
NEPAL 24,372,940
NETHERLANDS 3,644,389
NETHERLANDS ANTILLES 347,038
NEW CALEDONIA 400
NEW ZEALAND 1,343,636
NICARAGUA 3,424,372 308,987 3,733,359 62,092,402
NIGER 7,004,887
NIGERIA 676,702,126
NORWAY 55,183,486
OMAN 225,567,670
PAKISTAN 419,921,975
PANAMA 76,642,541
PAPUA NEW GUINEA 5,006,273
PARAGUAY 708,734 708,734 1,289,843
PERU 10,287,400 6,422,662 16,710,062 225,495,602
PHILIPPINES 12,697,209 268,397 12,965,606 2,205,468,764
POLAND 172,000 172,000 673,439,414
PORTUGAL 797,660
QATAR 432,783,499
REUNION ISLAND 1,172
ROMANIA 14,802,678 14,802,678 244,995,237
RUSSIA 622,048,278 14,896,063 636,944,341 2,455,687,881
SAN MARINO 14,064
SAUDI ARABIA 900,000 900,000 4,637,498
SENEGAL 1,861,103
SEYCHELLES 519,007
SIERRA LEONE 5,597,676
SINGAPORE 16,181,812
SLOVAK REPUBLIC 7,335,256
SLOVENIA 9,172,549
SOUTH AFRICA 120,208,383
SPAIN 180,000 180,000 4,851,628
SRI LANKA 20,759,332
ST KITTS-NEVIS 1,124,122
ST LUCIA 182,022
ST VINCENT 63,110
SUDAN 28,246,331
SWEDEN 945,000 945,000 3,303,846
SWITZERLAND 2,389,905
TANZANIA 1,326,047 1,326,047 22,818,591
THAILAND 407,550 407,550 739,125,815
TOGO 2,820
TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO 635,331,850
TUNISIA 153,471,483
TURKEY 24,828,916 331,398,806 19,066,865 375,294,587 2,409,905,929
TURKMENISTAN 102,988,645 102,988,645 374,862,381
TURKS AND CAICOS ISLANDS 65,190




FY 1998 AUTHORIZATIONS BY MARKET

Single-Buyer Total Exposure

Loans Guarantees Insurance Authorizations 9/30/98

UGANDA 777,338 777,338 3,305,268
UKRAINE 82,373,089 82,373,089 288,449,210
UNITED ARAB EMIRATES 19,975,227
UNITED KINGDOM 256,754 256,754 24,625,203
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 689,518,046 689,518,046 1,334,765,893
URUGUAY 1,128,973 1,128,973 16,240,733
UZBEKISTAN 379,040,624 379,040,624 775,696,033
VARIOUS COUNTRIES UNALLOCABLE 255,316,467
VENEZUELA 127,158,332 5,522,496 132,680,828 1,662,466,027
VIRGIN ISLANDS - BRITISH 97,952
WEST INDIES - FRENCH 183,912
ZAMBIA 142,486,064
ZIMBABWE 2,620,125 2,620,125 93,253,571
TOTAL 102,607,657 6,150,673,507 857,746,118 7,111,027,282 50,039,647,877
INTERMEDIARY LOANS 25,673,938
MULTIBUYER INSURANCE - MEDIUM-TERM 20,100,000 20,100,000 34,180,350
MULTIBUYER INSURANCE - SHORT-TERM 3,418,555,000 3,329,829,938
OTHER 1,156,096,505
TOTAL AUTHORIZATIONS $102,607,657 $6,150,673,507 $877,846,118 $10,549,682,282 $54,585,428,608




FY 1998 LOANS AND LONG-TERM GUARANTEES

Obligor
Guarantor Interest
Auth Date  Principal Supplier Credit Product Rate Loans Guarantees
ALGERIA
18-Dec-97  Sonatrach 71426 il & Gas Field Services $15,393,372
Ministry of Finance
Halliburton Company
Total for Algeria $15,393,372
ARGENTINA
18-Dec-97  Pluspetrol Energy S.A. 71661 Boiler Feedwater Pumps $52,402,500
Pluspetrol Resources Corporation
Nooter/Eriksen Inc.
Total for Argentina $52,402,500
AUSTRALIA
16-Oct-97 SPV/AWAS 71077 (1) 737-300ER Aiircraft $28,458,248
Ansett Worldwide Aviation Equipment Ltd.
Boeing Company
29-Jan-98  SPV/AWAS 71077 (1) 767-300ER Aiircraft $72,001,798
Ansett Worldwide Aviation Equipment Ltd.
Boeing Company
Total for Australia $100,460,046
BAHAMAS
19-Mar-98  Ministry of Finance & Planning 71850 2x60m Coastal Patrol Vessels $22,340,718
None
Halter Marine Group
Total for Bahamas $22,340,718
BAHRAIN
25-Jun-98  Ministry Of Finance & National Economy 72393 Emergency Diesel Generator Sets $19,329,765
None
Black & Veatch International Company
Total for Bahrain $19,329,765
BRAZIL
19-Feb-98  Companhia Metalic Nordeste 71575 Engineering Services $18,625,837

Banco Itau S.A.

Pac International Inc.



FY 1998 LOANS AND LONG-TERM GUARANTEES

Obligor
Guarantor Interest
Auth Date  Principal Supplier Credit Product Rate Loans Guarantees
10-Jun-98  Empresa Brasileira De Telecomunicacoes 73310 Fiber Optic Cable 6.580% $68,736,731
None
Tyco Submarine Systems Ltd Inc.
Total for Brazil $68,736,731 $18,625,837
CHILE
18-Dec-97  SPV/Linea Aerea Nacional Chile S.A 72347 (3) 767-300 Aircraft & $189,123,068
None (7) GE Engines
Boeing Company
Total for Chile $189,123,068
CHINA (MAINLAND)
18-Dec-97 SPV/Shanghai Airlines 72670 (1) 767-300ER Aircraft $64,993,809
Bank of China
Boeing Company
12-Feb-98  SPV/Wuhan Airlines 73008 (1) 737-300 Aircraft $22,600,000
China Construction Bank
Boeing Company
19-Feb-98  SPV/China Northern Airlines 73040 (3) MD-90-30 Aircraft $102,568,069
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China
Boeing North American Inc.
09-Apr-98  SPV/China Xinjiang Airlines 73241 (2) 757-200 Aircraft $70,434,216
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China
Boeing Company
30-Apr-98  SPV/China Eastern Airlines 73129 (4) MD-90 Aircraft $143,057,409
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China
Boeing North American Inc.
10-Jun-98  SPV/Shandong Airlines 73433 (2) 737-300 Aircraft $53,364,683
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China
Boeing Company
18-Jun-98  SPV/China Southwest Airlines 73487 (2) 757-200 Aircraft & Engines $73,250,970
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China
Boeing Company
02-Jul-98 SPV/China Xiamen Airlines 73380 (4) 737-700 Aircraft $120,541,814
Bank of China
Boeing Company
17-Jul-98  SPV/China Eastern Aitlines 73622 (3) 737-300 Aircraft $82,417,532

China Construction Bank

Boeing Company



FY 1998 LOANS AND LONG-TERM GUARANTEES

Obligor
Guarantor

Auth Date  Principal Supplier

Credit

Interest

Product Rate Loans

Guarantees

04-Aug-98 SPV/Hainan Airlines Company Ltd.
Bank of China
Boeing Company

10-Sep-98  SPV/Air China
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China

Boeing Company

17-Sep-98  SPV/Shenzhen Airlines
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China

Boeing Company
29-Sep-98  SPV/Air China
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China

Boeing Company

Total for China (Mainland)

73516

73669

13875

73802

(2) 737-400 & (1) 737-800

Aiircraft

(2) 747-400 Aircraft

(2) 737-700 Aircraft

(1) 777-200 Aircraft

$110,780,648

$240,036,058

$60,947,301

$205,736,592

$1,350,729,101

CROATIA
30-Apr-98  Hrvatska Elektroprivreda D.D.
None

Parsons Power Group Inc.

Total for Croatia

72923

Engineering & Construction

Management Services

$68,987,654

$68,987,654

CZECH REPUBLIC
12-Mar-98 SPV/Czech Airlines
None

Boeing Company

Total for Czech Republic

70350

(3) 737-500 Aircraft

$81,980,165

$81,980,165

EL SALVADOR
02-Oct-97  U.S. Voting Trust
None

Nordam

Total for El Salvador

72179

(2) Hushkits

$10,597,036

$10,597,036

FIJI1 ISLANDS
04-Aug-98 SPV/Air Pacific Ltd.
None

Boeing Company

Total for Fiji Islands

13567

(1) 737-700 & (2) 737-800
Aiircraft

$109,099,499

$109,099,499




FY 1998 LOANS AND LONG-TERM GUARANTEES

Obligor
Guarantor

Auth Date  Principal Supplier

Credit

Interest

Product Rate Loans

Guarantees

GEORGIA
22-Jun-98  State Enterprise Sakaeronavigatsia
None

Northrop Grumman Corporation

Total for Georgia

1277

Radar, Microwave

Communication System

$2,394,977

$2,394,977

INDIA

22-Oct-97  Special Purpose Entity
None

Boeing Company

22-Jan-98  Bhilai Power Supply Company Ltd.
State Bank of India

General Electric Company

Total for India

72138

71281

(4) 737-400 Aircraft & CFM Engines

Steam Turbine, Generator Sets & Spares

$106,772,868

$81,129,785

$187,902,653

INDONESIA
12-Feb-98  Ministry of Finance of Indonesia
None

Multi Pacific International Inc.

Total for Indonesia

69837

Aiircraft Spare Parts & 7.380% $1,738,250

Overhaul Service

$1,738,250

KENYA
05-May-98 SPV/Kenya Airways Ltd.
None

Boeing Company

Total for Kenya

73273

(1) 737-300 Aircraft

$26,123,273

$26,123,273

LEBANON
09-Apr-98  Ministry of Finance of Lebanon
None

Continental Electronics Corporation

Total for Lebanon

73205

Broadcasting Equipment 6.490% $7,303,760

$7,303,760

MEXICO

18-Dec-97 Hylsa S.A. de C.V
Hylsaex, S.A. de C.V.

Fuchs Systems Inc.

72334

Tunnel Furnace & Shuttle

$39,103,485



FY 1998 LOANS AND LONG-TERM GUARANTEES

Obligor

Guarantor Interest
Auth Date  Principal Supplier Credit Product Rate Loans Guarantees
18-Dec-97 Galvak S.A de C.V. 72333 Furnace Equipment $17,574,600

Hylsamex S.A. de C.V.
Fuchs Systems Inc.

14-May-98 Grupo Lusacell S.A. de C.V. 73062 Switching Equipment $72,455,485
Comunicaciones Celulares De Occidente S.A.

Lucent Technologies Inc.

04-Aug-98 Comision Federal De Electricidad 72632 Exhaust Stack $227,325,676
None

Westinghouse Electric Corporation

04-Aug-98 Petroleos Mexicanos 72875 Platforms & Risers $375,379,380
Pemex Exploracion Y Produccion

Cooper Cameron Corporation

10-Sep-98  Comision Federal De Electricidad 73306 Project Management Services $34,327,653
None

Elsag Bailey Inc.

29-Sep-98  Petroleos Mexicanos 73637 Compressor Expanders $13,457,729
Pemex Exploracion Y Produccion

Fluor Daniel Inc.

29-Sep-98  Petroleos Mexicanos 72859 Dirilling Equipment $161,139,799
Pemex Exploracion Y Produccion

Halliburton Energy Services

Total for Mexico $940,763,807
MOROCCO
21-May-98 SPV/Royal Air Maroc 73086 (2) 737-800 Aircraft $66,888,200
None
Boeing Company
Total for Morocco $66,888,200
ROMANIA
02-Apr-98 Ratmil R.A. 72552 Metal Rolling Mill Machinery $14,802,678

Ministry of Finance

Integrated Industrial Systems

Total for Romania $14,802,678




FY 1998 LOANS AND LONG-TERM GUARANTEES

Obligor
Guarantor Interest
Auth Date  Principal Supplier Credit Product Rate Loans Guarantees
RUSSIA
20-Nov-97 Vnesheconombank 70926 Laser Cameras, Film Developers $29,269,920
None
Hard Manufacturing Company Inc.
12-Dec-97 Megionneftegaz Joint Stock Company 70933 Pumps $1,041,400
None
A P International Finance
08-Jan-98  Vnesheconombank 72978 Medical Equipment $64,566,000
None
Lunceford & Associates Inc.
08-Jan-98  Vnesheconombank 71953 Delta II Launch Vehicle $122,829,547
None
Hughes Space &
Communications International Inc.
15-Apr-98  Vnesheconombank 73061 Semiconductor Process Equipment $44,259,500
None
STC Trade Corporation
14-May-98 Vnesheconombank 73368 Engineering, Design, Construction, $46,272,300
None Management Services
Ellerbe Becket Company Inc.
10-Jun-98  SPV/Aeroflot Russian International Airlines 73227 (10) 737-400 Aircraft $301,598,146
None
Boeing Company
Total for Russia $609,836,813
TURKEY
01-Oct-97  Onur Air Tasimacilik A.S. 71396 (5) MD-88 Aiircraft & (10) P&W Engines $1,860,438
Ten Tour Turizm Endustri Ve Ticaret A.S.
McDonnell Douglas Support Services
04-Dec-97  Ataer Ener Otoprod San Ve Tic Anomim Sir 72655 Gas Turbine Generator Set $11,518,014
Turkiye Halk Bankasi A.S.
Stewart & Stevenson Services Inc.
19-Feb-98  Undersecretariat of Treasury 70930 Locomotive Engines & Spares $15,110,305
None
General Motors Corporation
12-Mar-98  SPV/Pegasus Airlines 71890 (1) 737 Series Aircraft $23,789,763
Cukurova Holding A.S.

Boeing Company



FY 1998 LOANS AND LONG-TERM GUARANTEES

Obligor
Guarantor Interest
Auth Date  Principal Supplier Credit Product Rate Loans Guarantees
17-Apr-98  Turkiye Petrol Rafinerileri A.S. 71887 Engineering Services $22,826,750
Undersecretariat of Treasury
Foster Wheeler USA Corporation
01-May-98 Bosen Enerji Uretimi Otoproduktor Gurbu 72436 Heat Recovery $10,536,514
Yapi Ve Kredi Bankasi A.S. Steam Generator
Westinghouse Electric Corporation
10-Jun-98  Turkish State Railways 72313 Semi-Automatic Couplers  6.580% $8,181,003
Undersecretariat of Treasury
Nissho Iwai American Corporation
18-Jun-98  Baser Petrokimya 73017 Engineering Services $14,288,160
Finansbank
Belleview Engineering & Construction Co.
04-Aug-98 Undersecretariat of Treasury 68355 Engineering, Design, 5.570% $16,647,913
None Construction Management
Foster Wheeler Environmental Corporation Services
17-Sep-98  SPV/Turk Hava Yollari Tao 73566 (4) 737-800 Aircraft & $122,740,000
Undersecretariat of Treasury CEM Engines
Boeing Company
17-Sep-98  SPV/Turk Hava Yollari Tao 73661 (2) 737-800 Aircraft & $61,370,000
Undersecretariat of Treasury CEM Engines
Boeing Company
Total for Turkey $24,828,916 $284,039,944
TURKMENISTAN
23-Oct-97  Bank for Foreign Economic Affairs 72424 164 Tractors $6,630,772
Cabinet of Ministers of Turkmenistan
Case Corporation
26-Feb-98  State Bank for Foreign Economic Affairs 72494 Gas Turbines $96,357,873
Cabinet of Ministers of Turkmenistan
Bateman, Edward L.
Total for Turkmenistan $102,988,645
UKRAINE
04-Nov-97  State Export-Import Bank of the Ukraine 70246 Combines & Agricultural Equipment $134,501

Government of Ukraine

Deere & Company



FY 1998 LOANS AND LONG-TERM GUARANTEES

Obligor

Guarantor Interest
Auth Date  Principal Supplier Credit Product Rate Loans Guarantees
19-Feb-98  State Export-Import Bank of the Ukraine 73157 Planters & Disks $82,238,588

Cabinet of Ministers

Deere & Company

Total for Ukraine $82,373,089
UZBEKISTAN
16-Oct-97  National Bank for Foreign Economic Activity 72445 Food Processing Equipment $41,984,948

Ministry of Finance

Texuna International USA Ltd.

13-Nov-97 National Bank for Foreign Economic Activity 72652 Diesel Engines $36,959,541
Ministry of Finance

Case Corporation

19-Mar-98  National Bank of Uzbekistan 73201 (150) Axial Flow Combines $20,957,691
Ministry of Finance w/Grain Header

Case Corporation

30-Apr-98  Uzbekneftegas 72025 Engineering Services & Equipment $214,585,796
Ministry of Finance
ABB Lummus Global Inc.

18-Jun-98  National Bank of Uzbekistan 73585 Model 8940 Tractors $54,910,470

Ministry of Finance

Case Corporation

Total for Uzbekistan $369,398,446

VENEZUELA

07-Oct-97  Ministry of Finance of Venezuela 71652 Engineering Services $34,695,985
None

Harza Engineering Company International LP

07-Oct-97  Ministry of Finance of Venezuela 72548 Engineering & Construction Services $17,347,993
None

Harza Engineering Company International LP

05-Feb-98  Ministry of Finance of Venezuela 73022 Light Rail Vehicles $28,500,000
None

Siemens Transportation Systems Inc.

11-Mar-98  Ministry of Finance of Venezuela 70820 Engineering Services $2,065,619
None
Gauff Gmbh & Company, Engineering KG



FY 1998 LOANS AND LONG-TERM GUARANTEES

Obligor
Guarantor

Auth Date  Principal Supplier

Credit

Interest

Product Rate Loans

Guarantees

29-Sep-98  Ministry of Finance of Venezuela

None

BNA Operations Internatonal Inc.

Total for Venezuela

72846

Search and Navigation

Equipment

$12,658,217

$95,267,814

MISCELLANEOUS

Private Export Funding Corporation

NONE

Total for Miscellaneous

03048

Interest on PEFCO’s Own Debt

$301,810,000

$301,810,000

Grand Total

$102,607,657

$5,123,659,100




MANAGEMENT REPORT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT
AND INTERNAL ACCOUNTING CONTROLS

Ex-Im Bank’s management is responsible for the content and integrity of the financial data included in the Bank’s annual report
and for ascertaining that this data fairly presents the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of the Bank.

The Bank’s operations fall under the provisions of the Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990. This law, popularly known as
Credit Reform, provides that beginning for all commitments approved after September 30, 1991, subsidy calculations must
be performed (on a present value basis) and the resulting cost, if any, must be appropriated by the Congress. Credits may not
be approved if the cost has not been appropriated in advance.

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. As explained in more
detail in the footnotes, the financial statements recognize the impact of Credit Reform legislation on commitments made
after September 30, 1991. Other financial information related to the Bank included elsewhere in this report is presented on
a basis consistent with the financial statements.

Ex-Im Bank maintains a system of internal accounting controls that is designed to provide reasonable assurance at reason-
able cost that assets are safeguarded, that transactions are processed and properly recorded in accordance with management’s
authorization, and that the financial statements are accurately prepared. The Bank believes that its system of internal
accounting controls appropriately balances the cost/benefit relationship.

Ex-Im Bank has made substantial progress in enabling its computer systems to correctly recognize dates occurring subsequent
to December 31, 1999 (referred to generally as the Y2K, or year 2000, computer problem). As of September 30, 1998, Ex-Im
Bank was substantially Y2K compliant, and we expect to have our computer systems fully compliant by December 31, 1998.

The board of directors pursues its responsibility for the Bank’s financial statements through its audit committee. The audit
committee meets regularly with management and the independent accountants. The independent accountants have direct
access to the audit committee to discuss the scope and results of their audit work and their comments on the adequacy of
internal accounting controls and the quality of financial reporting.

We believe that the Bank’s policies and procedures, including its system of internal accounting controls, provide reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with provisions of applicable laws and regulations.

Ex-Im Bank’s financial statements were audited by independent accountants. Their opinion is printed in this annual report
immediately following the footnotes to the financial statements.

YW

James A. Harmon James K. Hess
President and Chairman Chief Financial Officer

October 28, 1998



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(in $ Millions)

September 30, 1998

September 30, 1997

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents $555.6 $981.5
Restricted Funds:

Investments 4,457.9 3,563.5

Unexpended Appropriations 2,147.9 2,337.7
Loans Receivable, Net 4,525.5 4,259.3
Receivables from Subrogated Claims, Net 1,658.6 1,626.6
Accrued Interest and Fees Receivable 147.0 154.2
Other Assets 5.7 5.8
Total Assets $13,498.2 $12,928.6
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER’S EQUITY
Borrowings $4,462.5 $4,744.5
Claims Payable 32.7 212.9
Accrued Interest Payable 271.0 231.1
Allowance for Off-Balance Sheet Risk 6,430.7 4,196.7
Other Liabilities 728.4 713.4
Total Liabilities 11,925.3 10,098.6
Capital Stock held by the Department of the Treasury 1,000.0 1,000.0
Tied Aid Appropriations 417.3 379.7
Credit Appropriations 9.5 46.7
Retained Earnings 146.1 1,403.6
Total Stockholder’s Equity 1,572.9 2,830.0
Total Liabilities and Stockholder’s Equity $13,498.2 $12,928.6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.



STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

(in $ Millions)

For the Year Ended
September 30, 1998

For the Year Ended
September 30, 1997

INTEREST INCOME

Interest on Loans $616.5 $635.1
Interest on Investments 295.3 220.8
Total Interest Income 911.8 855.9
INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest on Borrowings 327.6 365.9
Other Interest Expense 2.8 2.8
Total Interest Expense 330.4 368.7
Net Interest Income 581.4 4817.2
Provision for Credit Losses 2,540.3 345.0
Net (Loss)/Income after Provision for Losses (1,958.9) 142.2
NON-INTEREST INCOME

Commitment Fees 53.0 52.5
Exposure Fees 218.7 197.4
Guarantee Fees and Insurance Premiums 28.4 30.5
Other Income 33.7 16.6
Total Non-Interest Income 333.8 297.0
NON-INTEREST EXPENSE

Administrative Expense 46.3 40.3
FFB Prepayment Penalty 50.6 -
Other Expense 8.4 8.8
Total Non-Interest Expense 105.3 49.1
Net (Loss)/Income ($1,730.4) $390.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement



STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Appropriated Capital
(in $ Millions) Pre-Fiscal Post-Fiscal
Capital Tied 1992 1991 Retained
Stock Aid Credits Credits Earnings Total
BALANCE AT SEPTEMBER 30, 1996 $1,000.0 $337.7 $0.0 $157.0 $478.5 $1,973.2
Appropriations Received 772.6 772.6
Appropriations Obligated 17.0 (884.5) 867.5 0.0
Net Income 390.1 390.1
Transferred to Tied Aid 100.0 (100.0) 0.0
Appropriations Deobligated and Reavailable, net 103.2 (103.2) 0.0
Expired or transferred to the Department of the Treasury (70.2) (1.6) (229.3) (301.1)
Tied Aid Appropriations Disbursed (4.8) (4.8)
BALANCE AT SEPTEMBER 30, 1997 $1,000.0 $379.7 $0.0 $46.7 $1,403.6 $2,830.0
Appropriations Received 7.5 731.6 739.1
Appropriations Obligated 8.2 (7.5) (774.8) 774.1 0.0
Net Loss (1,730.4) (1,730.4)
Transferred to Tied Aid 39.7 (39.7) 0.0
Appropriations Deobligated and Reavailable, net 53.0 (53.0) 0.0
Appropriations Deobligated and Unavailable (6.0) 6.0 0.0
Expired or transferred to the Department of the Treasury (8.8) (1.3) (254.2) (264.3)
Tied Aid Appropriations Disbursed (1.5) (1.5)
BALANCE AT SEPTEMBER 30, 1998 $1,000.0 $417.3 $0.0 $9.5 $146.1 $1,572.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.



STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(in $ Millions)
For the Year Ended
September 30, 1998

For the Year Ended
September 30, 1997

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATIONS

Net (Loss)/Income ($1,730.4) $390.1
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operations:

Collections subject to Credit Reform restrictions (624.0) (678.7)
Amortization of discount on loan disbursements, net (6.8) 26.5
Amortization of loan exposure fees, net 28.0 42.2
Provision for loan losses 353.0 70.7
(Increase) decrease in claims receivable, net (32.0) 207.6
Decrease (increase) in accrued interest and fees receivable 7.2 (24.8)
Decrease in other assets 0.1 1.0
Decrease in claims payable (180.2) (140.4)
Increase in accrued interest payable 39.9 23.5
Increase in allowance for off-balance sheet risk 2,234.0 359.7
Increase in other liabilities 15.0 72.2
Net cash from operations 103.8 349.6
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Loan disbursements (1,330.9) (1,381.8)
Repayment of loans receivable 690.5 1,276.5
Net cash used in investing activities (640.4) (105.3)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of Federal Financing Bank borrowings (1,294.5) (527.1)
Borrowings from the Department of the Treasury 824.4 405.6
Repayment of borrowings from the Department of the Treasury 9.1) (1.0)
Claim Payment Certificates issued 295.0 383
Claim Payment Certificates paid (97.8) (117.0)
Credit appropriations used 392.17 464.2
Net cash from financing activites 110.7 263.0
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (425.9) 507.3
Cash and cash equivalents (beginning of year) 981.5 474.2
Cash and cash equivalents (end of year) $555.6 $981.5
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash paid during the year for interest $341.2 $345.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this financial statement.



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
AND REPORTING POLICIES

Enabling Legislation and Mission

The Export-Import Bank of the United States (Ex-Im Bank) is an independent
corporate agency of the United States that was first organized as a District of
Columbia banking corporation in 1934.

Ex-Im Bank’s mission is to facilitate U.S. exports by providing financing
in order to level the playing field for American exporters facing unfair
foreign financing competition and bridge export financing shortfalls caused by
market failures.

Ex-Im Bank’s operations subsequent to September 30, 1991, are subject to
the provisions of the Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990 (PL. 101-508). Under
provisions of this law, Congress provides appropriated financing to fund the
costs, including credit losses, of providing direct loans, guarantees and insur-
ance, and the cost of administering the loan, guarantee, and insurance pro-
grams. The Credit Reform Act requires Ex-Im Bank to perform a calculation of
the costs of providing these credits for all commitments approved on or after
October 1, 1991. In addition, the Credit Reform Act provides for appropria-
tions to cover the repayment of obligations outstanding at September 30, 1991,
to the extent the available net cash flows of commitments approved on or before

September 30, 1991, are insufficient to meet the payment of these obligations.

Use of Estimates

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The preparation of
financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and lia-
bilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses dur-

ing the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Ex-Im Bank defines cash and cash equivalents as highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, and unrestricted funds at the

Department of the Treasury.

Restricted Funds

Appropriated funds received are deposited in a non-interest-bearing account at
the Department of the Treasury. These funds are available to Ex-Im Bank when
the credit activity to which they relate takes place or to finance administrative
expenses. Upon occurrence of the credit activity, disbursement of the related
loans or shipment of goods under guarantee or insurance policies written by
Ex-Im Bank, the funds become available to either subsidize the related
loan disbursement or to be invested to fund the credit costs of the guarantee
and insurance policies. Unexpended appropriations are presented net of

expired appropriations.

Accrued Interest on Loans and Claims Receivable

Interest is accrued on loans and claims as it is earned. Generally, loans and

claims receivable delinquent 90 days or more are placed in a non-accrual sta-
tus unless they are well secured and significant collections have been received
during the past year. Any accrued but unpaid interest previously recorded is

reversed against current period interest income.

Accounting for Capitalized Interest on Rescheduled Loans and Claims

Rescheduling agreements frequently allow Ex-Im Bank to add uncollected
interest to the principal balance of rescheduled loans and claims receivable
(i.e., capitalized interest). In such circumstances, interest income resulting
from capitalized interest is recorded only when, in management’s judgment,
borrowers have demonstrated the ability to repay the debt in the normal course

of business.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The allowance for credit losses provides for possible losses inherent in the lend-
ing process. Providing for such losses recognizes the fact that collection of some
loans and claims are doubtful and their value, including claims to be filed under
Ex-Im Bank’s guarantee and insurance programs, is impaired. The allowance is
available to absorb credit losses related to the total credit portfolio. The
allowance is decreased (increased) by provisions charged to income (expense)
and decreased by write-offs, net of recoveries. The provision for credit losses of
$2,540.3 million is comprised of a charge of $353.0 million for loan losses, a
credit of $46.7 million for claim losses, and a charge of $2,234.0 million for
off-balance sheet risk for fiscal year 1998.

Commitment and Exposure Fees

Commitment fees on direct loans and guarantees, which are generally non-refund-

able, are calculated and recognized ratably over the term of the commitment.
Ex-Im Bank charges a risk-related exposure fee under both the loan and

guarantee programs that is based on each loan disbursement or shipment of

goods under the guarantee policy. This fee is recognized as income over the life

of the loan or guarantee.

Insurance Fees
Fees charged under insurance policies are recognized as income on the straight-

line basis over the life of the insurance policies.

Claims Payable
Liabilities for claims arising from Ex-Im Bank’s guarantee and insurance activ-
ities, and the related estimated losses and loss adjustment expenses, are accrued

upon approval of claim filing.

Discount on Loans Receivable

In fulfilling its mission to aid in financing and facilitating exports of U.S. goods
and services to foreign countries and to provide U.S. exporters with financing
which is competitive with that provided by foreign governments to their
exporters, Ex-Im Bank, at times, lends money at interest rates lower than its
cost of borrowing. When this occurs, Ex-Im Bank records a charge to income
equivalent to the discount at inception of the loan and amortizes the discount

over the life of the loan as interest income.



Appropriated Capital

Appropriations received by Ex-Im Bank pursuant to the Credit Reform Act are
recorded, in effect, as paid-in-capital. Such appropriations are applied to Ex-Im
Bank’s retained earnings in accordance with directions on the use of credit
reform appropriations issued by the Office of Management and Budget (OMB).
Appropriations not required to finance credit activities are returned to the

Department of the Treasury.

2. CREDIT REFORM
The Federal Credit Reform Act of 1990, which became effective on October

1, 1991, significantly affected the manner in which Ex-Im Bank finances its
credit activities. The primary purpose of this Act is to more accurately measure
the cost of federal credit programs and to place the cost of such credit programs
on a basis equivalent with other federal spending.

Ex-Im Bank received appropriations aggregating $731.6 million in fiscal
year 1998 and $772.6 million in fiscal year 1997, which represented the annu-
al appropriation to cover the estimated subsidy cost of providing new direct
loans, guarantees, and insurance, and the associated administrative costs of
these programs.

The following table summarizes appropriations received and used during
fiscal years 1998 and 1997 (in $ millions):

1998 1997
Received:
For Credit Subsidies $683.0 $726.0
For Credit-related Administrative Costs 48.6 46.6
Total Received 731.6 712.6
Carryover from Prior Fiscal Year 3315 343.1
Cancellations of Prior Year Obligations 53.0 103.2
Total Available 1,116.1 1,218.9
Obligated:
For Credit Subsidies 728.6 840.8
For Credit-related Administrative Costs 46.2 43.7
Total Obligated 774.8 884.5
Unobligated Balance:
Unobligated Balance 3413 3344
Unobligated Balance Lapsed 8.1 2.9
Remaining Balance $333.2 $331.5

Of the remaining balance of $333.2 million at September 30, 1998, $.5
million is available until September 30, 2001, and $332.7 million is available
until expended and may be used for tied aid.

The cost of credit risk shown above, the credit subsidy, is the present value
of estimated costs and expenses over the life of the loans, guarantees, and insur-
ance, net of the present value of associated fees or premiums plus the amount,
if any, by which the scheduled inflow of principal and interest on a loan, when
discounted at the applicable Department of the Treasury borrowing rate for the
term of the transaction, is different than the face amount of the loan. When the
present value of expected cash inflows exceeds the present value of expected
cash outflows, a “negative” credit subsidy arises. Negative subsidies are remitted
to the Department of the Treasury upon disbursement of the underlying credits.
Ex-Im Bank transferred $13.6 and $14.6 million of negative subsidies to the
Department of the Treasury in fiscal years 1998 and 1997, respectively. The

appropriation for administrative costs is based on an annual estimate of the costs
to administer and service Ex-Im Bank’s entire credit portfolio.

These appropriations are obligated to cover the estimated subsidy costs at
the time that loans, guarantees, and insurance are committed and administra-
tive expenses accrued. As the loans are disbursed or when the insured or guar-
anteed event has taken place (generally when the related goods are shipped)
the obligated amounts are used to cover the estimated costs of the subsidies
related to the disbursements and shipments. The portion of the appropriation
related to Ex-Im Bank’s lending programs is used to partially finance the loan
disbursements while the portions related to Ex-Im Bank’s guarantee and insur-
ance programs are invested in an interest-bearing account with the
Department of the Treasury. Prior to this use, all of the appropriated funds are
held in a non-interest-bearing Department of the Treasury account.

Because financial and economic factors affecting the repayment prospects
change over time, the net estimated subsidy cost of the outstanding balance of
loans, guarantees, and insurance financed by the subsidies is re-estimated peri-
odically in accordance with OMB guidelines. Re-estimates that result in
increases in subsidy costs are covered by additional appropriations that become
automatically available, while decreases in estimated subsidy costs result in
returning the excess appropriation to the Department of the Treasury. A sub-
sidy re-estimate was not performed for fiscal years 1998 or 1997.

The manner in which Ex-Im Bank uses its credit appropriations differs
from the way in which it calculates its credit-related loss allowances and net
income under GAAP. GAAP and the method through which the use of the
credit appropriation is calculated similarly factor into the loss allowance indi-
vidual credit risks. Both recognize the cost to Ex-Im Bank of issuing loans at
interest rates below Ex-Im Bank’s borrowing rate. However, the GAAP loss
allowances do not recognize the present value of future fees and premiums as
an offset to the allowance since to do so would record revenue prior to realiza-
tion. As discussed in Note 12, Ex-Im Bank calculates the fair value of its cred-

it instruments using the Credit Reform methodology.



3. TIED AID APPROPRIATIONS

Ex-Im Bank provides assistance for transactions, referred to as “tied aid,” that
help U.S. exporters in special situations where there is “reasonable proof” that
concessional financing is being offered to a foreign competitor of a U.S.
exporter. The assistance is provided through either a direct grant or an interest

concession subsidy payment.

Prior to FY 1992, Ex-Im Bank received appropriations for tied aid assis-
tance which were available for obligation for a one-year period. Since FY 1992,
Ex-Im Bank has received appropriations which may be used for tied aid and are
available until expended.

Changes in the appropriations which may be used for tied aid in fiscal years
1997 and 1998 are as follows (in $ millions):

Obligated
Undisbursed
Interest Undisbursed Total
Unobligated Undisbursed Equalization Int. Rate Undisbursed
Balance Grants Program Subsidy Balance
Balance 9/30/96 $241.2 $67.7 $2.0 $26.8 $337.7
No-Year Funds from FY 96 Appropriation 100.0 100.0
Tied Aid Obligations from FY 97 No-Year Appropriation 17.0 17.0
Unobligated Balance Lapsed (48.3) (21.9) (70.2)
Disbursements (3.4) (1.4) (4.8)
Balance 9/30/97 292.9 59.4 2.0 25.4 379.7
No-Year Funds from FY 97 Appropriation 33.0 33.0
No-Year Funds from FY 98 Appropriation 6.7 6.7
Tied Aid Obligations From FY 98 No-Year Appropriation 8.2 8.2
Unobligated Balance Lapsed (8.8) (8.8)
Disbursements 0.0 (0.1) (1.4) (1.5)
Balance 9/30/98 $332.6 $67.5 $2.0 $15.2 $417.3
Ex-Im Bank had $292.6 million outstanding on total commitments of $532.2 million at September 30, 1998, for these tied aid credits.
4. LOANS RECEIVABLE 1998 1997
Ex-Im Bank extends medium-term and long-term direct loans to foreign buy- Asia $4,000.2 $3,229.5
ers of U.S. exports. Loans extended under the medium-term loan programs Latin America 2,038.1 21495
have repayment terms of one to seven years, while loans extended under the Africa/Middle East 1,964.5 2,034.1
long-term loan programs have repayment terms in excess of seven years. New Independent States (NIS) 59 355
Generally, both the medium-term and long-term loan programs cover up to 85 Eastern Europe — Non NIS 461.8 P19
percent of the U.S. export value of shipped goods. Ex-Im Bank’s direct loans United States/Other 13.0 313
carry the lowest fixed interest rate permitted for the country and term under Western Europe/Canada 2.6 5.6
the “Arrangement on Guidelines for Officially Supported Export Credits” 8,566.1 71,9780
negotiated among members of the Organization for Economic Cooperation Less:
and Development (OECD). Capitalized Interest 2,013.7 2,032.4
Ex-Im Bank’s loans receivable, as shown in the Statement of Financial Unamortized Discount and Exposure Fees 1763 155.1
Position, are net of uncollected interest capitalized upon rescheduling, 6,376.1 51905
unamortized exposure fees, unamortized discounts, and an allowance for loan Less:
losses. At September 30, 1998, and 1997, the allowance for loan losses equaled Allowance for Loan Losses 1,850.6 1,531.2
Net Balance $4,525.5 $4,259.3

29.0 percent and 26.4 percent, respectively, of the outstanding loans receivable
balance, excluding uncollected capitalized interest and unamortized exposure
fees and discounts. The net balance of loans receivable at September 30, 1998,

and 1997, consist of the following (in $ millions):




Changes in the allowance for losses for fiscal years 1998 and 1997 are as fol-

lows (in $ millions):

The net balance of receivables from subrogated claims at September 30,
1998, and 1997, consists of the following (in $ millions):

1998 1997 1998 1997

Balance at beginning of year $1,531.2 $1,456.7 Claims previously paid and unrecovered:
Net (Write-offs)/Recoveries (33.6) 3.8 Rescheduled $2,186.4 $2,132.7
Provision charged to operations 353.0 70.7 Non-rescheduled 1,123.4 1,017.6
Balance at end of year $1,850.6 $1,531.2 Claims filed pending payment 32.8 2129
3,342.6 3,363.2
The allowance for loan losses is based on Ex-Im Bank’s evaluation of the Less: Capitalized interest 426.0 4234
loan portfolio taking into consideration a variety of factors, including repay- 2,916.6 2,939.8
ment status of the loans, assessment of future risks, and worldwide economic Less: Allowance for claim losses 1,258.0 1,313.2
and political conditions. Net Balance $1,658.6 $1,626.6

Although Ex-Im Bank has a diversified loan portfolio, some of its loans are
more heavily concentrated in certain countries or industries. At September 30,
1998, the largest concentrations of gross loans outstanding were in the follow-

ing countries and industries (in $ millions):

Country Industry

China $1,045.1 Power Generation $2,638.8
Brazil 912.2 Manufacturing 997.6
Indonesia 852.6 Telecommunications 676.8
Philippines 851.2 Infrastructure Projects 296.8

From time to time, Ex-Im Bank extends the repayment date and modifies
the interest terms of some or all principal installments of a loan because the
obligor or country has encountered financial difficulty and Ex-Im Bank’s board
of directors has determined that providing relief in this manner will enhance
the ability to collect the loan. The outstanding balances related to rescheduled
installments included in loans receivable at September 30, 1998, and 1997,
were $3,166.5 million and $3,410.5 million, respectively. Rescheduled loan
installments of principal and interest were $38.6 million and $62.8 million,
respectively, in fiscal year 1998, and $69.6 million and $76.4 million, respec-
tively, in fiscal year 1997. The interest rate on rescheduled loans is generally a
floating rate of interest which is 37.5 to 62.5 basis points over Ex-Im Bank’s

cost of borrowing.

5. RECEIVABLES FROM SUBROGATED CLAIMS

Receivables from subrogated claims represent the outstanding balance of
claims which were submitted to Ex-Im Bank in its capacity as guarantor or
insurer under Ex-Im Bank’s export guarantee or insurance programs. Under the
subrogation clauses in its insurance contracts, Ex-Im Bank receives all rights,
title and interest in all amounts relating to claims paid under insurance poli-
cies and therefore establishes an asset to reflect such rights.

Ex-Im Bank’s receivables from subrogated claims, as shown in the
Statement of Financial Position, are net of uncollected capitalized interest for

rescheduled claims and an allowance for claim losses.

Changes in the allowance for losses for fiscal years 1998 and 1997 are as

follows (in $ millions):

1998 1997
Balance at beginning of year $1,313.2 $1,438.7
Net Write-offs (8.5) (40.1)
Provision credited to operations (46.7) (85.4)
Balance at end of year $1,258.0 $1,313.2

The allowance for claim losses is based on Ex-Im Bank’s evaluation of the
receivables from subrogated claims portfolio taking into consideration a vari-
ety of factors, including repayment status of the claims, assessment of future
risks, and worldwide economic and political conditions. Write-offs are net of
recoveries of funds received on claims which were previously written-off.
At September 30, 1998, and 1997, the allowance for claim losses equaled 43.1
percent and 44.7 percent, respectively, of the outstanding balance, excluding

uncollected capitalized interest.

6. NON-ACCRUAL OF INTEREST

The weighted average interest rate on Ex-Im Bank’s loan and rescheduled
claim portfolio at September 30, 1998, equaled 4.04 percent (6.47 percent
on performing loans and rescheduled claims). Interest income is not recog-
nized on non-rescheduled claims paid and unrecovered or on claims filed
pending payment.

Generally, the accrual of interest on loans and rescheduled claims is dis-
continued when the credit is delinquent for 90 days. Ex-Im Bank had a total of
$2,900.7 million and $1,138.2 million of loans and rescheduled claims, respec-
tively, in non-accrual status at September 30, 1998, and $3,033.2 million and
$1,151.6 million at September 30, 1997. Had these credits been in accrual sta-
tus, interest income would have been $145.4 million higher in fiscal year 1998
(amount is net of interest received of $118.7 million) and $138.5 million high-

er in fiscal year 1997 (amount is net of interest received of $149.1 million).



7. BORROWINGS

Ex-Im Bank’s outstanding borrowings come from two sources: direct borrowings
from the Department of the Treasury and the assumption of repayment obliga-
tions of defaulted guarantees under the Bank’s guarantee program via Claim
Payment Certificates. Claim Payment Certificates are, in effect, marketable
securities issued by Ex-Im Bank under the same terms as the original obligation.

Prior to October 1, 1991, Ex-Im Bank borrowed from the Federal Financing
Bank (FFB), a separate office of the Department of the Treasury. In fiscal year
1998, Ex-Im Bank repaid the entire outstanding balance of $1,294.6 million as
of September 30, 1997. At September 30, 1998, Ex-Im Bank had no outstanding
borrowings with the FFB.

Under provisions of Ex-Im Bank’s guarantee program, the insured party has
the option of accepting payment via a Claim Payment Certificate. At September
30, 1998, $506.7 million was outstanding under Claim Payment Certificates.

Maturities of Claim Payment Certificates are as follows (in $ millions):

Fiscal Year Amount
1999 $104.4
2000 65.4
2001 49.6
2002 58.5
2003 64.1
342.0

2004-2006 164.7
$506.7

The weighted average interest rate on Ex-Im Bank’s outstanding Claim
Payment Certificates at September 30, 1998, equaled 6.81 percent.

Payments due on Claim Payment Certificates for which the underlying
commitment was authorized prior to October 1, 1991, are funded through net
cash receipts related to loans, guarantees, and insurance committed prior to
October 1, 1991. To the extent the net receipts are not sufficient to repay the
debt as it becomes due, Ex-Im Bank has available a permanent and indefinite
appropriation for this purpose.

Direct borrowings from the Department of the Treasury are primarily
used to finance the Bank’s medium- and long-term loans committed on
or after October 1, 1991. At September 30, 1998, Ex-Im Bank had $3,955.8
million of borrowings outstanding with the Department of the Treasury at a
weighted average interest rate of 6.66 percent.

Department of the Treasury borrowings are repaid, primarily, with the
repayments of the medium- and long-term loans they financed. To the extent
the repayments on the underlying loans, combined with the commitment and
exposure fees and interest earnings received on the loans, are not sufficient to
repay the borrowings, appropriated funds are available to Ex-Im Bank through the
re-estimation process for this purpose. Accordingly, Department of the Treasury
borrowings do not have a set repayment schedule; however, the full amount of

the borrowings are expected to be repaid by fiscal year 2025.

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The financial statements reflect the results of contractual agreements with the
Private Export Funding Corporation (PEFCO). PEFCO, which is owned by a

consortium of private sector banks, industrial companies and financial services

institutions, makes medium- and long-term fixed and variable rate loans to
foreign borrowers to purchase U.S. made equipment when such loans are not
available from traditional private sector lenders on competitive terms. PEFCO
has agreements with Ex-Im Bank which, for specified fees earned totaling $13.7
million in fiscal year 1998 and $11.7 million in fiscal year 1997, provide that
Ex-Im Bank will (1) guarantee the due and punctual payment of principal and
interest on export loans made by PEFCO, (2) guarantee the due and punctual
payment of interest on PEFCO’s long-term secured debt obligations when
requested by PEFCO, and (3) guarantee certain fees paid by borrowers on
behalf of PEFCO. Such guarantees, aggregating $3,988.0 million at September
30, 1998, and $2,893.2 million at September 30, 1997, are reported by Ex-Im
Bank as off-balance sheet risk and the exposure is included in its allowance for
loss calculation.

Ex-Im Bank’s credit and guarantee agreement with PEFCO extends
through December 31, 2020. Through its contractual agreements with PEFCO,
Ex-Im Bank exercises a broad measure of supervision over PEFCO’s major
financial management decisions, including approval of both the terms of indi-
vidual loan commitments and the terms of PEFCO’s long-term debt issues, and
is entitled to representation at all meetings of PEFCO’s board of directors,
advisory board, and Exporters’ Council.

As discussed in Note 7, Ex-Im Bank has significant transactions with the
Department of the Treasury and the FFB. The Department of the Treasury,
although not exercising control over Ex-Im Bank, holds the common stock of
Ex-Im Bank creating a related party relationship between Ex-Im Bank and the
Department of the Treasury and the FFB.

9. PENSIONS AND ACCRUED ANNUAL LEAVE

Virtually all of Ex-Im Bank’s employees are covered by either the Civil Service
Retirement System (CSRS) or the Federal Employees Retirement System
(FERS). For CSRS employees, Ex-Im Bank withholds a portion of their base
earnings. The employees’ contributions are then matched by Ex-Im Bank and
the sum is transferred to the Civil Service Retirement Fund, from which the
CSRS employees will receive retirement benefits. For FERS employees, Ex-Im
Bank withholds, in addition to social security withholdings, a portion of their
base earnings. Ex-Im Bank contributes an amount proportional to the employ-
ees’ base earnings towards retirement, and an additional scaled amount towards
each individual FERS employee’s Thrift Savings Plan, depending upon the
employee’s level of savings. The FERS employees will receive retirement ben-
efits from FERS, Social Security, and Thrift Savings Plan deposits that have
accumulated in their accounts.

Total Ex-Im Bank (employer) matching contributions to the Thrift
Savings Plan, CSRS, and FERS for all employees, included in administrative
expenses, were approximately $3.1 million and $2.9 million for the fiscal years
ended September 30, 1998, and 1997, respectively.

Although Ex-Im Bank funds a portion of pension benefits under the CSRS
and FERS relating to its employees and makes the necessary payroll withhold-
ings for them, it has no liability for future payments to employees under these
programs and does not account for the assets of these systems nor does it have
actuarial data with respect to accumulated plan benefits or the unfunded pen-
sion liability relative to its employees. These amounts are reported by the
Office of Personnel Management (OPM) for the retirement systems and are

not allocated to the individual employers. OPM also accounts for the health



and life insurance programs for current and retired civilian federal employees.
Similar to the accounting treatment afforded the retirement programs, the
actuarial data related to the health and life insurance programs is maintained
by OPM and is not available on an individual employer basis.

Ex-Im Bank’s liability to employees for accrued annual leave, included in

other liabilities, was $2.3 million at September 30, 1998, and 1997.

10. STATUTORY LIMITATIONS

Under provisions of the Export-Import Bank Act, as amended in fiscal
year 1997, Ex-Im Bank is limited to $75.0 billion of loans, guarantees and
insurance outstanding at any one time. At September 30, 1998, and 1997,
Ex-Im Bank’s outstanding commitments and statutory authority used were as

follows (in $ millions):

1998 1997
Outstanding Loans $8,566.1 $7,978.0
Undisbursed Loans 3611.8 4,778.6
Outstanding Claims 3,342.5 3,363.2
Guarantees 33,352.9 32,112.7
Insurance 5,712.1 6,433.1
Total $54,585.4 $54,665.6

Congress provides an appropriation to cover the subsidy cost of the trans-
actions committed. Transactions can be committed only to the extent that
appropriated funding is available to cover such costs. In fiscal year 1998 and fis-
cal year 1997, Congress placed no limit on the total amount of loans, guarantees,
and insurance which could be committed in those years, provided that the $75.0
billion limit established by the Export-Import Bank Act was not exceeded.

Ex-Im Bank’s net credit subsidy appropriations were $683.0 million and
$726.0 million for fiscal years 1998 and 1997, respectively. During fiscal year
1998, Ex-Im Bank entered into commitments for loans of $85.9 million using
$8.2 million of the appropriation, tied aid commitments of $16.6 million using
$8.2 million of the appropriation, and commitments for guarantees and
insurance of $10,447.0 million using $712.2 million of the appropriation.
During fiscal year 1997, Ex-Im Bank entered into commitments for loans
of $1,473.4 million using $26.7 million of the appropriation, tied aid com-
mitments of $75.5 million using $17.0 million of the appropriation, and
commitments for guarantees and insurance of $10,610.0 million using $797.1

million of the appropriation.

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Enabling Legislation

In accordance with its enabling legislation, continuation of Ex-Im Bank as an
independent corporate agency of the United States is subject to periodic exten-
sions granted by Congress. Congressional authorization has been extended

through September 30, 2001.

Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk
In addition to the risks associated with its loans and claims receivable,
Ex-Im Bank is subject to credit risk for financial instruments not reflected

in its Statement of Financial Position. These financial instruments consist of

(1) guarantees and insurance which provide repayment protection against polit-
ical and commercial risks and (2) guarantees of letters of credit underlying future
loan disbursements. Political risks covered by Ex-Im Bank involve non-payment
as a result of war, cancellation of an existing export or import license, expropri-
ation, confiscation of or intervention in a buyer’s business, or transfer risk (fail-
ure of foreign government authorities to transfer foreign deposits into dollars).
However, losses due to currency devaluation are not considered a political risk by
Ex-Im Bank. Commercial risks involve non-payment for reasons such as deteri-
oration of markets, unanticipated competition and buyer insolvency. Ex-Im Bank
generally does not hold collateral or other security to support its medium- and
short-term financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk, except for credits
supporting export of aircraft and a variety of security arrangements made in the
case of project risk transactions. When issuing working capital guarantees, Ex-Im
Bank frequently requires the guaranteed party to obtain collateral or a third-party
guarantee from the debtor. The amount of collateral is based on management’s
credit evaluation. All Ex-Im Bank guarantees and insurance benefits carry the
full faith and credit of the United States Government.

The risks associated with the overall portfolio of off-balance sheet financial
instruments differ from those associated with the loan portfolio. Loans are
spread more evenly than guarantees over the entire risk spectrum, while off-
balance sheet financial instruments are concentrated in relatively lower risk
countries. Also, exporters and financial intermediaries who use Ex-Im Bank
short-term insurance bear a portion of losses resulting from non-payment.

Following is a summary of Ex-Im Bank’s off-balance sheet risk at September
30, 1998, and 1997 (in $ millions):

FY 1998
Commitments
Total Unused Outstanding
Guarantees $33,352.9 $10,517.5 $22,835.4*
Insurance 5,712.1 4,128.7 1,583.4%
Guarantees of Letters
of Credit 3,611.8 3,611.8 -
Total $42,676.8 $18,258.0 $24,418.8
FY 1997
Commitments
Total Unused Outstanding
Guarantees $32,112.7 $11,457.1 $20,655.6*
Insurance 6,433.1 5,184.3 1,248.8*
Guarantees of Letters
of Credit 4,778.6 4,778.6 -
Total $43,324.4 $21,420.0 $21,904.4

*Shipment of goods has taken place.

Ex-Im Bank is exposed to credit loss with respect to the amount at risk in
the event of non-payment by other parties in the agreements. The commit-
ments shown above are agreements to lend monies and issue guarantees and
insurance so long as there is no violation of any condition established in the

credit agreement.



Substantially all of Ex-Im Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments

involve credits located outside of the United States. Following is a breakdown

of such total commitments at September 30, 1998, by major geographic area

(in $ millions):

Guarantees

of Letters
Guarantees Insurance of Credit Total
Asia $12,143.5 $621.7 $2,116.8 $14,882.0
Latin America 10,077.2 1,513.4 1,437.9 13,028.5
NIS 3,993.3 14.9 - 4,008.2
Africa/Middle East 3,457.8 90.0 37.4 3,585.2
United States/Other 1,590.1 - 12.7 1,602.8
Eastern Europe — Non NIS 1,410.1 16.6 1.0 1,427.7
Western Europe/Canada 680.9 91.5 6.0 718.4
S/T Insurance unshipped - $3,364.0 - $3,364.0
Total $33,352.9 $5,712.1 $3,611.8 $42,676.8

At September 30, 1998, Ex-Im Bank’s largest commitments at risk

were in the following countries and industries (in $ millions):

Country Industry

China $4,922.5 Aiir Transportation $11,206.6
Mexico 4,515.3 Power Generation 6,197.6
Indonesia 2,643.0 Oil & Gas Services 5,464.1
Brazil 2,622.5 Manufacturing 4,095.4

Changes in the allowance for off-balance sheet risk for fiscal years 1998

and 1997 are as follows (in $ millions):

1998 1997
Balance at beginning of year $4,196.7 $3,837.0
Provision charged to operations 2,234.0 359.7
Balance at end of year $6,430.7 $4,196.7

Leasing Activities

Ex-Im Bank has no capital leases. Operating lease arrangements are renewable
annually. These leases consist primarily of rental of office space and computer
equipment. Office space is leased primarily from the General Services
Administration through the Public Buildings Fund. Lease expenses, included
in administrative expenses, were $4.7 million and $4.0 million for fiscal years
1998 and 1997, respectively.

Pending Litigation

As of the end of fiscal year 1998, Ex-Im Bank was named in several legal
actions, virtually all of which involved claims under the guarantee and insur-
ance programs. It is not possible to predict the eventual outcome of the vari-
ous actions; however, it is management’s opinion that these claims will not
result in liabilities to such an extent they would materially affect the financial

position or results of operations of Ex-Im Bank.

Project Finance

In certain project finance cases, Ex-Im Bank’s assistance during the construc-
tion period generally is in the form of a political risk guarantee to the private
lender. At the end of the construction period, the borrower has the option of
converting the private guaranteed financing to an Ex-Im Bank direct loan or
to a comprehensive guarantee. As of September 30, 1998, Ex-Im Bank had

$2,558.1 million of such contingent loan commitments outstanding.

12. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of financial instruments to which Ex-Im Bank has a contractu-
al obligation to deliver cash to, or a contractual right to receive cash from,
another entity were estimated based on the methods and assumptions identi-

fied with each class of financial instrument listed below.

Loans and Subrogated Claims Receivables and Financial Instruments with

Off-Balance Sheet Risk

Substantially all of these instruments involve credit risks that private lenders
or guarantors would not accept. However, as discussed in Note 2, the Credit
Reform Act requires Ex-Im Bank to calculate the net present value of the cost
of its credit programs based on management’s assumptions with respect to
future economic conditions, the amount and timing of future cash flows, and
estimated discount rates. The values derived by applying these assumptions to
Ex-Im Bank’s loans, claims, and financial instruments with off-balance sheet

risk approximate their fair values.

Borrowings and Claims Payable

The fair value of these instruments were estimated based on discounting the
future cash flows using interest rates currently available to Ex-Im Bank for
Department of the Treasury debt with comparable maturities. The Department
of the Treasury interest rate plus one percent was used for claims payable as this

is the rate available in the claim document.



1998 1997

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(in $ millions) Value Value Value Value
Financial Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents $555.6 $555.6 $981.5 $981.5
Loans Receivable, net 4525.5 5,965.1 4.259.3 5,696.6
Receivable from Subrogated
Claims, net 1,658.6 1,864.0 1,626.6 1,830.6
Financial Liabilities:
Off-balance Sheet Financial
Instruments 6,430.7 6,430.7 4,196.7 4,196.7
Borrowings from FFB -0- -0- 1,294.6 1,316.8
Borrowings from the Department of the Treasury 3,955.8 3,955.8 3,140.4 3,093.1
Claim Payment Certificates 506.7 480.1 309.5 288.9
Claims Payable 327 30.0 212.9 187.1

Use of different methods and assumptions could significantly affect these  addition, settlement at the reported fair value may not be possible due to con-

estimates. Accordingly, the net realizable value could be materially different. In  tractual constraints or other reasons unique to federally backed credits.



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors
Export-Import Bank of the United States

In our opinion, the accompanying statements of financial position of the Export-Import Bank of the United States (Ex-Im Bank)
as of September 30, 1998, and 1997, and the related statements of operations, changes in capital and retained earnings, and cash
flows for the years then ended present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Ex-Im Bank at September 30, 1998,
and 1997, and the results of its operations, changes in capital and retained earnings, and cash flows for the years then ended, in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of Ex-Im Bank’s man-
agement; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of
these financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion on these financial statements.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 28, 1998, on our consideration of
Ex-Im Bank’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grants.

%‘wréw&@eé 2L

October 28, 1998
Washington, D.C.



REPORT ON COMPLIANCE AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING BASED ON AN AUDIT OF

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors
Export-Import Bank of the United States

We have audited the financial statements of the Export-Import Bank of the United States (Ex-Im Bank) as of and for the
year ended September 30, 1998, and have issued our report thereon dated October 28, 1998. We conducted our audit in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

COMPLIANCE

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Ex-Im Bank’s financial statements are free of material misstatement,
we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants, noncompliance with
which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. For purposes of this report,
we have categorized the provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants we tested as part of obtaining such reasonable
assurance into the following categories:

® Personnel engagement, maintenance, and separation

¢ Budget preparation and execution

® Debt authorizations and restrictions

® Deposits and investments restrictions

e Procurement policies and procedures

e Enabling legislation authorizations and restrictions

However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do
not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported
under Government Auditing Standards.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Ex-Im Bank’s internal control over financial reporting to determine our
auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements and not to provide assurance on
the internal control over financial reporting. Our consideration of the internal control over financial reporting would not
necessarily disclose all matters in the internal control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses. A material
weakness is a condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the internal control components does not reduce
to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements in amounts that would be material in relation to the financial statements
being audited may occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions. We noted no matters involving the internal control over financial reporting and its operation that we
consider to be material weaknesses. However, we noted other matters involving the internal control over financial reporting
that we have reported to the management of Ex-Im Bank in a separate letter dated October 28, 1998.

This report is intended for the information of the board of directors, management of Ex-Im Bank, and the Congress. However,
this report is a matter of public record and its distribution is not limited.
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October 28, 1998
Washington, D.C.
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